**COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT** 

BETWEEN

ALTALINK MANAGEMENT LTD.



AND THE

UNITED UTILITY WORKERS' ASSOCIATION OF CANADA



January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2023

## AGREEMENT

## Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2023

Between

## ALTALINK MANAGEMENT LTD.

Hereinafter designated and referred to as the "Company"

And the

## UNITED UTILITY WORKERS' ASSOCIATION OF CANADA

Hereinafter designated and referred to as the "Association"

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - SPIRIT OF AGREEMENT1
ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION
ARTICLE 3 - ASSOCIATION RELATIONSHIPS
ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS5
ARTICLE 5 – GRIEVANCES
ARTICLE 6 – RESIGNATIONS, DISCIPLINE AND LAYOFF7
ARTICLE 7 - PROMOTIONS, JOB POSTINGS AND TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS9
ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK12
ARTICLE 9 - SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL
ARTICLE 10 - OVERTIME16
ARTICLE 11 – FLEX TIME AND FLEXIBLE HOURS OF WORK AGREEMENTS
ARTICLE 12 - CALL-OUTS
ARTICLE 13 – STANDBY
ARTICLE 14 – VACATIONS
VACATION REFERENCE TABLE
ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAYS24
ARTICLE 16 – EXPENSES25
ARTICLE 17 – SALARIES, RATES OF PAY AND OTHER PAYMENTS
ARTICLE 18 - MATERNITY AND PARENTAL LEAVE
ARTICLE 19 – BIRTHDAY HOLIDAY
ARTICLE 20 - TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT
PAY SCHEDULES
JOB CLASSIFICATIONS
ATTACHMENT 1 - TRANSFER EXPENSES - IN-SCOPE EMPLOYEES55
ATTACHMENT 2 - TRANSFER EXPENSES - MOBILE HOMES59
ATTACHMENT 3 - REARRANGED HOURS OF WORK - (10 HOUR DAY, 4 DAY WEEK) TRANSMISSION TECHNOLOGISTS AND TRANSMISSION CREWS61
ATTACHMENT 4 - REARRANGED HOURS OF WORK - FIELD STAFF WORKING IN SHOP ENVIRONMENTS
ATTACHMENT 5 - EXTENSIVE OVERNIGHT ABSENCES64
PART-TIME EMPLOYEES65
FIELD TECHNOLOGISTS – FLOATER POSITIONS

GUIDELINES FOR THE USE OF CONTRACTORS	68
JOB SHARING	68
PENSION AND BENEFITS	69
RETIREE RETENTION UNIQUE WORK ARRANGEMENTS	70
WORKING FROM HOME	71
TRANSITIONS	72
OIL PROCESSING	72
SHORT TERM INCENTIVE PAY (STIP)	74
NETWORK OPERATORS 24 X 7 SHIFT OPERATORS	75
RETENTION BONUS FOR TERM EMPLOYEES	79
OUT OF SCHEDULE POSITIONS	80
JOINT HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE	81

#### ARTICLE 1 - SPIRIT OF AGREEMENT

WHEREAS the Company, its management and employees, comprise a team wherein the money of investors is combined with the judgment, abilities, experience and energy of the management and employees to provide public utility services to our consumers -- the public, industry, wholesale and retail business, and to the farmer and other engaged in basic industries, and

WHEREAS it is agreed that the service rendered by the Company and its employees directly or indirectly to electric consumers is essential to the welfare of these consumers, and

WHEREAS it is essential to the livelihood and in the best interests of the Company and its employees to direct their respective efforts towards the efficient and economical operation of the Company's business,

THEREFORE, this Agreement recognizes and accepts the principles and spirit of good teamwork, based upon mutual responsibility, respect, confidence, loyalty, integrity and friendliness and,

THIS AGREEMENT further recognizes that all successful employer-employee contacts must be mutually advantageous, fair and just, not more favourable to one than to the other and of the same spirit of cooperation and friendliness in which this Agreement is reached.

## **ARTICLE 2 - RECOGNITION**

- 2.1 The Company recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for all Permanent, Term and Probationary employees of the Company that come within the scope of the Association's unit of Certification.
- 2.2 A "Permanent" employee is one who occupies a position permanently established by the Company and has successfully completed a probationary period of six (6) months.
- 2.3 A "Term" employee is one who occupies a position established by the Company for a specified duration and has successfully completed a probationary period of six (6) months.
  - a. The duration of a Term position shall be more than six (6) months and no greater than three years unless otherwise agreed by the Association and the Company.

- b. The duration of a Term position may be extended by agreement of the Association. For this purpose, a request to extend the duration shall be provided to the Association and affected employee at least thirty (30) days in advance of the expiry of the term.
- c. The term may be reduced for operational reasons provided the employee receives a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice, unless a greater period of notice is required by the Employment Standards Code.
- d. In accordance with the Company's philosophy to support employee development, a position posted as Term for twelve (12) months or less shall be changed to a Temporary Assignment in the event the successful candidate is a Permanent Employee and Article 7.8 will apply.
- e. If a Permanent employee is offered a Term position that is greater than twelve (12) months:
  - i) The employee will receive a letter outlining the terms and conditions of the Term position so they may make an informed decision in accepting the offer as a Term employee.
  - ii) Upon acceptance, and effective the start date as a Term employee, the employee will be eligible for the Term retention bonus per Letter of Understanding #13.
  - iii) The employee will be eligible for STIP based on their eligible earnings as a permanent employee and subject to the terms of the Short-Term Incentive Policy. Eligibility for STIP will cease as of the start date of their Term position and status as a Term employee.
  - iv) For the purposes of job selection only, such employee will be considered permanent employees as per Article 7.1.
- 2.4 A "Probationary" employee is one who, at commencement of employment with the Company, occupies a Permanent or Term position for a trial period of six (6) months, and whose employment may be terminated at the Company's discretion at any time during this probationary period. A termination within the first four (4) months is not subject to the grievance procedure. A review of a probationary employee's progress shall be made and discussed with the employee before or during the third month of employment.

2.5 A "Temporary" employee is an employee who is not covered by the terms of this Agreement and is:

A person who is hired as casual to perform emergency or other work on an irregular basis; or

A person who is hired to perform work for a period of six (6) months or less; or

Students hired in co-op or intern positions up to a maximum of sixteen (16) months. This will only apply to students registered in a recognized post-secondary program. The number of co-op or intern students beyond six (6) months shall be no more than one percent (1%) of the permanent workforce. Of that number, no more than three (3) shall be non-engineering positions. The use of students must not reduce the number of permanent bargaining unit positions.

- 2.6 The Company shall advise the Association, in writing, of all newly hired Terms. The notice shall include the name of the employee, the position, the start date, and the expected duration.
- 2.7 Wherever the singular is used throughout this Agreement, the same shall be construed as meaning the plural where the context or the parties so require.

## ARTICLE 3 - ASSOCIATION RELATIONSHIPS

- 3.1 As a condition of continued employment, all employees shall pay to the Association monies equal to the established dues of the Association.
- 3.2 The dues referred to in 3.1 shall be deducted each pay from the employee's salary and remitted to the Association within thirty (30) days following the deduction.
- 3.3 The payment of dues does not require the employee to become a member. Should an employee's membership be refused or revoked by the Association, the employee's continued employment shall not be affected.
- 3.4 The Company shall not be liable for any claims that may be made against the Company for amounts deducted in accordance with the above.
- 3.5 The Company shall not discriminate against any employee because of the employee's connection with the Association, or the employee's activities related thereto which are permitted by the Company, sanctioned by the terms of the Collective Agreement or are in accordance with those rights and privileges defined in the Employment Standards Code and the Labour Relations Code, nor shall the Association discriminate against any employee because of the employee's non-membership in the Association.

- 3.6 During the life of this Agreement, the Company shall not cause or direct any lockout of its employees, nor shall the Association cause, permit, or in any way encourage employees to participate in any strike, walkout, slowdown or suspension of work.
- 3.7 The Company shall provide the Association with all policies and directives that affect the employees covered by this Agreement.
- 3.8 The Company shall advise the Association or appropriate Job Discipline Representative (JDR) or Unit Coordinator (UC) of all new hires. JDRs and UCs shall be given time to privately meet with new employees working in the area.
- 3.9 The Association shall provide the Company with a current list, and amendments, containing the name and location of each Association representative employed by the Company.
- 3.10 A joint committee comprised of management and Association representatives will meet on an as needed basis up to three times per year to discuss the ongoing labour/management relationship.
- 3.11 At Management discretion the Company will approve and pay for labour relations training for AltaLink employees who are UUWA representatives if it is beneficial to the employee, the UUWA and AltaLink and if it is within the overall training time and budget priorities and limitations.
- 3.12 The Company shall pay for the cost of embroidering a Fire Resistant UUWA logo in an appropriate size and location on all outer FR clothing.
- 3.13 The Company will arrange and pay for the printing and distribution of collective agreements to the Association and all bargaining unit employees, in a format and process agreed to by the Company and the Association.
- 3.14 After signing the Collective Agreement, the Company agrees to hold meetings with Supervisors and Association representatives to present the terms and interpretation of the new Agreement. The Association Business Manager, or designate(s), shall attend all such meetings.

## 3.15 <u>Orientation for New Employees</u> UUWA Representatives will hold orientation sessions for all newly hired employees covered by this Collective Agreement. Designated UUWA Representatives shall be given sixty (60) minutes private time to conduct new member orientations. All such time shall be considered work time and any employee attending orientation shall be kept whole.

## **ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS**

- 4.1 The Association recognizes the right of the Company to hire, promote, demote, layoff, classify and transfer in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. The Association further recognizes the right of the Company to demote, discipline, suspend and discharge employees for cause. In cases of demotion, discipline, suspension and discharge the employee, if the employee so desires, may request the Association to review the action taken by the Company.
- 4.2 The Association further recognizes the right of the Company to operate and manage its business in all respects in accordance with its commitments and responsibilities. In particular, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Association agrees that the Company has the sole authority and is exclusively responsible for assigning and scheduling of work; determining the number of employees needed at any time in any classification and in any section, department or plant; directing its working forces except to the extent that these rights have been specifically limited by this Agreement. The Company also has the right to make and alter from time-to-time rules and regulations to be observed by the employees. Such rules and regulations shall not be inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement.

## **ARTICLE 5 – GRIEVANCES**

Should an employee (or group of employees) feel they have been unfairly treated or a dispute arises between the Company and an employee (or group of employees), an earnest effort shall be made to settle the dispute by the individuals involved.

A grievance is a matter concerning differences in interpretation, application, operation or alleged violation of this Agreement. Employees shall have the right to process grievances through the following procedure. Should the Association or the Company wish to initiate a grievance, it shall commence at the Third Step of the grievance procedure.

# "Working days" shall mean Monday to Friday, exclusive of Holidays pursuant to Article 15.

5.1 First Step

An employee who feels they have a grievance shall discuss the matter with their immediate supervisor within **fifteen (15)** working days from the date of the incident prompting the grievance. The employee may request an Association representative be present for this meeting. The supervisor shall answer grievances within **five (5)** working days of this meeting.

Notwithstanding the above, a selection grievance resulting from a posted position, shall be submitted to the supervisor indicated on the job posting within **seven (7)** working days from the date the employee was notified either verbally or in writing

of the selection decision, whichever is earlier. If such notification is verbal it shall be made personally by the supervisor indicated on the job posting. The Association and the supervisor can mutually agree to waive the First Step for a selection grievance.

Agreements or resolutions at Step 1, shall be consistent with the terms of the Collective Agreement, and shall be without prejudice.

#### 5.2 Second Step

If a satisfactory settlement is not reached in the First Step, the employee through the Association, within **fifteen (15)** working days of receipt of the answer from the employee's immediate supervisor (or for selection grievances, the immediate supervisor with the vacancy), shall present the grievance in writing to the employee's Department Head (except for selection grievances in which case the employee shall through the Association present it to the Department Head with the vacancy). The Department Head (or appointee) shall, within **ten (10)** working days of receipt of the grievance, arrange a meeting with the grievor. An Association representative shall be present for this meeting unless the grievor requests that the representative not attend. The Department Head (or appointee) shall answer the grievance in writing to the grievor, with a copy to the Association, within **five (5)** working days of this meeting.

## 5.3 Third Step

If on completion of the Second Step either the Association or the Company wishes to process the grievance further, either shall, within **five (5)** working days, submit the grievance in writing to a Grievance Committee consisting of three (3) representatives of the Company and three (3) representatives of the Association. The Grievance Committee shall arrange a meeting within **ten (10)** working days of this notice and shall give its decision in writing to the Association and the Company, within **five (5)** working days of this meeting. The employee may request to discuss their grievance with the Grievance Committee if the employee so desires.

## 5.4 Fourth Step

Should a majority of the Grievance Committee fail to agree upon a settlement and if the Association wishes to process the grievance further, within **five (5)** working days, the grievance shall be referred to the Chief Executive Officer (or appointee) by a representative of the Association. The Chief Executive Officer (or appointee) shall answer the grievance in writing within **five (5)** working days of meeting with the representative of the Association. The employee may request to be present for this meeting if the employee so desires.

#### 5.5 Fifth Step

If a satisfactory settlement is not reached in Step Four, within **fifteen (15)** working days of receipt of answer from the Chief Executive Officer (or appointee), either the Company or the Association may notify the other party in writing of its desire to submit the difference to arbitration and the notice shall contain a statement of the difference and name of the first party's appointee to an Arbitration Board. The

recipient of the notice shall, within **fifteen (15) working** days, inform the other party of the name of its appointee to the Arbitration Board. The two (2) appointees so selected shall, within **fifteen (15)** working days of the appointment of the second of them, appoint a third person who shall be the **chairperson**.

If the recipient of the notice fails to make an appointment within the time limits, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon the request of either party. If the two (2) appointees fail to agree upon a **chairperson** within the time limits, the appointment shall be made by the Minister of Labour upon the request of either party.

The Arbitration Board shall hear and determine the difference and shall issue an award in writing and the decision is final and binding upon the parties and upon any employee affected by it. The award of a majority is the award of the Arbitration Board, but if there is no majority, the decision of the **chairperson** governs and shall be deemed to be the award of the Board. The Arbitration Board by its decision shall not alter, amend or change the terms of this Agreement.

Each party to the difference shall bear the expenses of its respective appointee to the Arbitration Board and the two (2) parties shall bear equally the expenses of the **chairperson**.

- 5.6 Should the parties agree, any matter may be referred to a single arbitrator whose decision shall be final and binding on the parties.
- 5.7 The time limits expressed in the foregoing shall be observed by both parties. However, any one (1) or all of the time limits or steps may be extended or waived by mutual agreement.

## ARTICLE 6 – RESIGNATIONS, DISCIPLINE AND LAYOFF

- 6.1 A permanent employee who wishes to resign shall give two (2) weeks' notice in writing to the employee's supervisor or Department Head.
- 6.2 Employees shall not be disciplined or discharged except for just cause.
- 6.3 A claim by any permanent or term employee that the employee has been discharged without just cause may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with as provided under Article 5, Grievances.
- 6.4 **a.** Employees have the right to have an Association representative present at any meeting that is disciplinary in nature.
  - b. An employee may request an Association Representative be present during a formalized performance improvement plan (PIP) meeting.

6.5 **a.** In situations where employees are disciplined, the Supervisor shall give the employee notice in writing as to the reason(s) for such action, with a copy sent to the Association.

## b. Copies of Letters of Expectation shall be provided to the Association.

6.6 In the event of a permanent work force reductions of employees covered by this Agreement, the Company shall, where practical, give the Association not less than eight (8) weeks advance notice or statutory notice, whichever is greater, for such change or closure.

Upon such notice, the Company will meet with the Association to discuss the impact of the change on the employees affected. The Company agrees to cooperate with the Association in considering alternatives to mitigate the effects of the proposed layoffs.

6.7 In the event of a layoff of employees, layoff will be conducted on the basis of overall job performance. Where overall job performance is relatively equal, seniority will be the deciding factor.

## 6.8 <u>The Effect of Layoff on Benefits and Vacation</u>

a. Pension Plan

An employee on layoff will be counseled as to the options available to them.

b. Vacation

When laid off, an employee would be paid out the vacation the employee had not taken and any accumulated vacation owing, from their vacation accrual date to the date of layoff.

c. Other Benefits

A laid off employee's life insurance coverage ceases following thirty-one (31) days of layoff. If desired, the employee may convert part or all of the employee's coverage to an individual policy within the thirty-one (31) days following layoff.

Eligibility under the Dental Plan and the Short Term and Long Term Disability Plan cease upon layoff. Entitlement to Alberta Health Care and the Voluntary Major Medical Plan benefits continue to the end of the month in which the employee was laid off.

- 6.9 When the Company wishes to terminate the services of a permanent employee due to layoff, such an employee shall be given one (1) months' notice or one (1) month's pay in lieu of notice. This is not applicable when an employee is discharged for just cause.
- 6.10 Employees who are laid off shall receive severance pay as per the formula in the company published involuntary termination and severance policy. The same policy and severance pay formula shall apply for both Association and non-union employees. Employees who receive at least one (1) months' notice or one (1) months' pay in lieu of notice in accordance with this clause shall not be entitled to additional notice or pay in lieu under clause 6.9.

## **ARTICLE 7 - PROMOTIONS, JOB POSTINGS AND TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS**

- 7.1 The Company agrees to fill vacancies firstly from Permanent employees and then from Term employees, whenever qualified personnel are available, subject to the following provisions. In all promotions, voluntary demotions and transfers, the Company shall consider, as related to the vacancy, experience, education, ability and job-performance. Where these qualifications are relatively equal for two (2) or more employees being considered, preference shall be given to the employee with the greater seniority. Any or all employees being considered may be subject to such additional tests or examinations as the Company may require.
- 7.2 The Company shall not necessarily be obliged to consider the transfer, including promotion, of any employee with less than **fifteen (15) months** of service with the employee's present accountabilities.
- 7.3 Vacancies in all positions within the scope of this Agreement shall be accessible to all employees for a period of not less than seven (7) working days. No more than two (2) postings shall be required in any one (1) sequence with the exception that all work leader positions, identified in the salary schedules, will be posted. The Company shall provide the Association with copies of all Job Postings. Notification of the successful candidate shall be in writing.

If automatic progression (AP) applies to the position, the posting shall indicate it is AP.

Job Postings for Technologists in field positions may indicate that the Company will consider residential requirements by geographical region. For example, the Company may indicate on a posting for a Lethbridge position that it will not require an employee living in Calgary and south area to relocate. For such situations, should the successful applicant not be required to move, their headquarters shall be the headquarters that existed prior to being successful on the posting. Under normal circumstances, successful candidates shall be released to the new position within thirty (30) days of the offer letter start date. If the Company is unable to release the employee on the said date and the new position is higher paid, the employee's pay rate shall be adjusted to the rate of the new position as if the employee had been assigned within thirty (30) days. In any event, the employee shall be released to the new position no later than sixty (60) days without the approval of the Association.

Any employee who submitted a bid on a posted position and whose application was not successful shall upon the employee's request be given the reason for not being successful.

- 7.4 It is agreed that a change in Pay Level for any position does not constitute a vacancy unless there is a change of incumbent.
- 7.5 Applications from employees for transfer to positions not subject to a required job posting shall be given consideration. Such applications should be made in writing to the Recruitment and Selection Section of the Human Resources Department in Calgary. When a transfer is made at the request of an employee, the employee may be required to take a classification and rate of pay appropriate to the employee's new duties and may be required to bear the cost of the employee's move.
- 7.7 When a promotion occurs, the following conditions shall apply:
  - a. When a promotion occurs, the employee concerned shall be placed in that position within the employee's new pay level which reflects an increase in pay which shall be no less than one (1) step in the level from which the employee was promoted or to the bottom of the new pay level, whichever is the greater.

For example (using **2022** rates), an employee who is currently in the OS3 pay level at Step 4, is the successful applicant on a OS4 level job, the calculation is as follows:

**\$30.94** (OS3 Step 4) subtract **\$28.85** (OS3 Step 3) which equals **\$2.09**.

This means the employee must receive at least a **\$2.09**/hr increase. In this case the individual would move to **\$33.68** (OS4 Step 4).

b. On any promotion in the same pay schedule (a) above shall be adjusted as required so that no promoted employee shall receive less than the employee's immediate subordinate and subject to 17.6 the employee shall not be held at the same rate as the employee's subordinate for more than six (6) months.

## 7.8 <u>Temporary Assignments</u>

Temporary Assignments shall be filled by permanent employees unless there are no qualified employees who express interest.

- a. Temporary Assignments three (3) months or less will be filled at management discretion.
- b. For Temporary Assignments between three (3) and twelve (12) months the following conditions apply:
  - i. The Company shall canvass (through formal or informal communications) these opportunities to employees. The Company may restrict this canvass to employees of specific departments or locations.
  - ii. Any vacancy created by a permanent employee moving to a Temporary Assignment shall not be filled on a permanent basis for the duration of the Temporary Assignment provided the assignment does not exceed twelve (12) months.
  - iii. Upon completion of Temporary Assignments of twelve (12) months or less, permanent employees shall return to their previous position provided the position still exists and the employee has not bid into another position. Should the previous position no longer exist, the employee shall be placed in a permanent position at the same salary and benefits level as the previous position.
  - iv. Should a Temporary Assignment of twelve (12) months or less require extension beyond twelve (12) months, the employee may return to their previous position; or
    - a) an agreement is reached to hold the previous position; or
    - b) upon completion of the Temporary Assignment, placement into another permanent position as the same salary and benefits level as the previous position.
  - v. It is management discretion to select which individual may fulfill a Temporary Assignment. If an individual has had a Temporary Assignment based on Management discretion that is greater than three (3) months and has ended within the last twenty-four (24) months, then Management may not award the same individual another Temporary Assignment, unless there are no other qualified permanent employees who have expressed interest.
- c. <u>Maternity/Parental Leave and Sick Leave Coverage</u>
  - i. Temporary Assignments for Maternity, Parental and/or Sick Leave Coverage may be up to eighteen (18) months. In these situations, the provisions of 7.8 b) shall apply based on eighteen (18) months rather than twelve (12) months.

- d. <u>Professional Development Positions</u>
  - i. Some roles within the organization may be identified as Professional Development Positions. These are positions which are occupied by incumbents who require skills and experience in other Professional Development Positions to obtain or maintain professional designations. The following Finance positions have been identified as Professional Development Positions:

1)	Budget Analyst 2	-	(FI5)
2)	Treasury Analyst	-	(FI5)
3)	Capital Asset Accountant	-	(FI4)
4)	Financial Reporting Analyst	-	(FI4)
5)	AP Financial Analyst	-	(FI4)

- ii. Employees who are incumbents in one of these Professional Development Positions may be temporarily assigned one of the other Professional Development Positions as required for professional development. Clauses 17.7 a) and 17.8 shall apply.
- iii. Further Professional Development Positions may be identified through agreement between the Company and the Association.

## **ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK**

The hours of work stated in this Article shall not be construed as a guarantee of any minimum nor as a restriction on any maximum hours to be worked, but serves only as a basis for the calculation of overtime and establishing work schedules.

- 8.1 a. <u>Office Staff General</u>
  - i. Seven (7) hours and fifty-five (55) minutes shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek. A Monday or Friday off (ETO) per month shall be designated by the Company for each employee.
  - ii. Normal office hours shall be from 7:35 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday with one (1) hour off for lunch. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice the Company may change the normal starting time providing the regular hours of work occur between 6:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. If mutually agreeable between the Company and an employee, the duration of the lunch period may be varied by up to one-half (1/2) hour.
  - b. Office Staff Shift Employees
    - i. Shifts shall be scheduled and posted by the Company. Seven (7) hours and fifty-five (55) minutes shall constitute a regular shift or workday and thirty-seven and one half (37.5) hours shall constitute an average

workweek. A Monday or Friday off (ETO) for each employee shall be designated each month by the Company.

ii. Normal hours for shifts shall be as follows:

Day Shift	-	shall be a shift which commences between the hours of 6:30 a.m. and 8:30 a.m.
Evening Shift	-	shall be a shift which commences between the hours of 3:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m.
Night Shift	-	shall be a shift which commences between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 1:00 a.m.

#### 8.2 Field Staff

Eight (8) hours shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek from November 1 to April 30. Eight (8) hours and thirty (30) minutes shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek, except that a Monday or Friday off per month shall be designated by the Company for each employee from May 1 to October 31.

- a. Non-Shift Employees General
  - i. From November 1 to April 30, normal field hours shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, with one (1) hour off for lunch. Eight (8) hours shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice the Company may change the normal field staff hours shown above by one (1) hour or less.
  - ii. From May 1 to October 31, normal field staff hours shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, with one (1) hour off for lunch, except that in each of the aforementioned months, a Monday or Friday off shall be designated by the Company for each employee. Eight (8) hours and thirty (30) minutes shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice the Company may change the normal field staff hours shown above by one (1) hour or less.
  - iii. If mutually agreeable between the Company and the majority of the employees in a work unit, a one-half hour (1/2) lunch period may be considered.
  - iv. If mutually agreeable between the Company and an employee(s) in a work unit, a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period will be granted provided the employee(s) has been requested to bring a home prepared lunch as per Article 15.3.

- b. Non-Shift Employees Operating Personnel
  - i. From November 1 to April 30, normal field staff hours shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. and the regular workweek shall be any five (5) consecutive days, Monday through Saturday, with one (1) hour off for lunch. Eight (8) hours shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice the Company may change the normal field staff hours shown above by one (1) hour or less.
  - ii. From May 1 to October 31, normal field staff hours shall be from 8:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m. and the regular work week shall be any five (5) consecutive days, Monday through Saturday, with one (1) hour off for lunch, except that in each of the aforementioned months, a Monday or Friday off shall be designated by the Company for each employee. Eight (8) hours shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice the Company may change the normal field staff hours shown above by one (1) hour or less.
  - iii. If mutually agreeable between the Company and the majority of the employees in a work unit, a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period may be considered.
    - 1) If mutually agreeable between the Company and an employee(s) in a work unit, a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period will be granted provided the employee(s) has been requested to bring a home prepared lunch as per Article 15.3.
    - 2) It is further agreed that where there is only one (1) man qualified to be on standby or where vacations reduce the remaining staff coverage to less than fifty percent (50%) of total staff available as a result of the day off, employees shall revert to the hours as outlined in 8.2(b)(i).
- c. Shift Employees

Schedules of regular shifts shall be as arranged and posted from time to time by the Company, but may be further varied by mutual agreement between the Company and the Association. From November 1 to April 30, eight (8) hours shall constitute a regular workday or shift and forty (40) hours shall constitute an average workweek. From May 1 to October 31, eight (8) hours and thirty (30) minutes shall constitute a regular workday and forty (40) hours shall constitute an average workweek, except that in each of the months May through October, a Monday or Friday off shall be designated by the Company for each employee. Normal hours for shifts shall be as follows:

- Evening Shift considered as a shift which commences between the hours of 3:00 p.m. and 5:00 p.m.
- Night Shift considered as a shift which commences between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 1:00 a.m.
- d. Construction Crew
  - i. AltaLink is creating constructions crew(s) which are the result of additional positions over and above existing positions.
  - ii. A Construction Crew shall be a crew that consist of employees who have bid into a position as being part of a Construction Crew. The work performed is primarily capital work, but may involve operating work.
    - Regular hours for the employees working on the Construction Crew will consist of working eight (8) days at 10 regular hours per day, 7:00 am to 5:30 pm with a one-half (1/2) hour unpaid lunch, followed by six (6) consecutive days off, OR
    - 2) Working hours as per article 8.2(b) or as per Attachment 3 Rearranged Hours of Work.
    - The scheduled days of work shall commence on a Monday and regular pay shall be averaged to ensure employees receive balanced pay cheques.
  - iii. There will be a minimum of two (2) weeks' notice before the start of the commencement of a schedule change, from (a) to (b) above or vice versa.
     Where possible the Company will endeavor to provide greater notice of schedule change. The four (4) weeks' notice in Article 8.5 will not apply.
    - If two (2) weeks' notice is not given, the employee(s) shall be paid at two
       (2) times their regular rate for hours worked on the first day of the changed schedule; OR
    - 2) If less than three (3) days' notice is given, the employee(s) shall be paid at two (2) times their regular rate for hours worked for an additional one (1) day for a total of two (2) days of the changed schedule.
  - iv. Holidays falling on a work day of a rotation shall be worked and paid in accordance with Article 10 Overtime, or, if approved by the Manager, the employee shall remain at home, or be returned home to observe the holiday. Any required travel shall be considered work time.

- e. When a field staff employee is rescheduled, at the Company's request, to work a normal work period or shift other than the employee's regular scheduled hours or shift with less than fifteen (15) hours off between work periods or shifts, the employee shall receive applicable overtime rates computed on basic salary for this initial period or shift as per Article 10.1.
- 8.3 Hours of work vary only as stated in Clause 11.3, Attachments 3 and 4 at the back of this Agreement.
- 8.4 If mutually agreeable between the Company and the employee, another workday may be substituted for the designated day off (ETO).
- 8.5 Once established, work schedules may only be changed by mutual agreement between the Company and an employee, or on four (4) weeks written notice by the Company, with a copy provided to the Association.

## ARTICLE 9 - SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

9.1 Employees scheduled to work evening or night shifts shall receive, in addition to regular pay, two dollars and fifty-five cents (\$2.55) per hour for evening or night shift worked. Effective January 1, 2019, this rate shall be increased to two dollars and sixty-three cents (\$2.63) per hour for evening or night shift worked.

## ARTICLE 10 - OVERTIME

- 10.1 Employees shall receive overtime pay at the rate of two (2) times their regular rate of pay for authorized overtime worked outside their scheduled hours of work on a regular work day and for all time worked on scheduled days off and Holidays as specified in Article 15.1 of this Agreement.
- 10.2 Hours of Rest
  - a. Where an employee does not get nine (9) hours of rest between shifts, that employee shall be paid at 2X their regular rate of pay for the hours worked until such time as they are relieved from duty. When the employee is relieved of duty, they shall be paid at their regular rate until the end of their regular shift.

E.g., Normal shift 7:00 a.m. – 5:30 p.m. Works on Monday from 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. Returns to work on Tuesday and works from 7:00 a.m.to 5:30 p.m.

• 7:00 a.m. - 5:30 p.m. on Tuesday – 2X regular rate of pay

b. For employees who had nine (9) hours of rest between shifts, but start more than two (2) hours before their regular shift, they will be paid at 2X their regular rate of pay for the hours worked until such time as they are relieved from duty. When the employee is relieved of duty, they shall be paid at their regular rate until the end of their regular shift.

E.g., Normal shift 7:00 a.m.-5:30 p.m. Called in at 3:00 a.m. and works until 1:30 p.m.

- 3:00 a.m. 1:30 p.m. 2X regular rate of pay
- 1:30 p.m. 5:30 p.m. Regular pay
- c. For employees who had nine (9) hours of rest between shifts and are called in within two (2) hours of their regular shift they will be paid in accordance with Article 12.2.
  - E.g., Normal shift 7:00 a.m. 5:30 p.m. Called in at 5:00 a.m.
    - 5:00 a.m. 7:00 a.m. 2X regular rate of pay
    - 7:00 a.m. 5:30 p.m. Regular pay
- d. If an employee is relieved from duties for less than nine (9) hours, then when they return to work the hours worked are paid at 2X their regular rate of pay.
- e. Where an employee returns to work on a regular day or works into a regular day without completing rest time, and without authorization to do so, the overtime provision will not apply.
- f. This article does not apply to employees who handle callouts from home and who have nine (9) hours off in the ten (10) hours preceding the start time of their regular shift.
- g. In the examples above meal periods are unpaid time.

#### 10.3 Overtime Pay Options

Overtime is when employees are required to work outside of their scheduled hours, on days off, or on holidays. If the Company requires overtime to be worked, such hours are to be paid at the rate of two (2) times their regular pay. Employees may choose one of the following options for overtime worked:

#### a. <u>Receive overtime pay</u>

In order to receive overtime pay, employees or designated delegates, shall enter their approved overtime in the time entry system.

## b. Bank overtime pay

The banked overtime calendar will be from March 1<sup>st</sup> to the last day of February in the following year. An employee may request in writing that the Company hold the payment of overtime pay until a later date. Employees must request in writing to receive their banked overtime. Any banked overtime not taken by the last day of February will be paid out on March 15<sup>th</sup>. Banked overtime shall be paid out to the employee at the rate at which the pay was banked. **Employees overtime bank shall not exceed 80 hours at any given time. Hours used or paid out can be re-accumulated.** 

## c. Receive time off rather than pay

When mutually agreed to by the employee and the Company, time off may be taken by the employee rather than receiving overtime pay. Time worked and taken must be in the same banked overtime year (i.e. March 1<sup>st</sup> to end of February). Employees receive two (2) hours off for each (1) hour overtime worked.

When the time is taken off, it must be agreed to by the manager. Such time off will be permitted provided that the requested time off does not result in additional overtime for that employee and/or other employees. Therefore, requests for time off more than thirty (30) days in advance of the actual time off may not be considered.

d. <u>Combination of a, b and c above</u> Employees may choose a combination of options a, b, and c, subject to the requirements described for each of these options.

10.4 Travel Time for Training

- a. Mandatory training is any training that the employee is required to attend. If total time including travel time exceeds the regular hours, 40 hours for field employees or 37.5 hours for office employees, travel time at the overtime rate will be paid for mandatory training.
- b. Optional training is any training that the employee is not required to attend. If total time including travel time exceeds the regular hours, 40 hours for field employees or 37.5 hours for office employees, travel time will not be paid for optional training; it will be on the employees own time.

## ARTICLE 11 – FLEX TIME AND FLEXIBLE HOURS OF WORK AGREEMENTS

## 11.1 Flex Time

Flex time is when an employee requests to change their regular scheduled hours which results in the same total number of hours worked but the hours are worked at a different time in order to accommodate the employee. Flex time must have pre-approval from the manager. Flex time is banked at the rate of one (1) times regular pay, i.e. employees receive one (1) hour off for each one (1) hour worked. For example, with management approval, an employee works an additional two (2) hours on Thursday in order to leave work two (2) hours early on Friday. Flex time is intended to accommodate short-term requirements, not for long-term needs that require many days off.

## 11.2 Time Off Without Pay

An employee may request to have time off without pay. Time off without pay must be approved by the Manager. Typically, time off will be short-term in nature, and in any event, shall not exceed two (2) months.

## 11.3 Flexible Hours of Work Agreements

There are personal and work situations for employees and supervisors alike where mutual advantage may be gained from agreement to modify the hours of work. Either employees or supervisors can propose flexible hour arrangements. Flexible hours of work agreements require the approval of employees and management.

- a. Proposals for flexible hours of work will be considered which meet the following conditions of satisfaction:
  - i. Flexible hour agreements will be entered into by employees and supervisors on a voluntary basis.
    - 1) In spirit, flexible hours proposals must foresee tangible benefits for the employee and the Company. For example, quality of life of employees, service to customers, quality of work or productivity improvements are tangible benefits where such benefits can be demonstrated.
    - 2) All requests to introduce flexible hours of work will receive due consideration from impacted supervisor(s) and employee(s).
    - 3) Any agreement to introduce flexible hours of work must include an understanding between the supervisor and employee(s) involved of the hours to be worked, the duration of the agreement and the length of notice required to cancel the agreement. For clarity, the supervisor and employee(s) are encouraged to have a written agreement. The introduction of flexible hours for periods in excess of thirty (30) calendar days shall be in writing, with a copy provided to the Association.

- Either party to a flexible hours of work agreement can end the agreement provided they give the appropriate notice as per condition iv) above. Where the appropriate notice period has not been set out, two (2) weeks' notice must be given.
- b. For purposes of Article 10 of the Collective Agreement the agreed upon hours of work shall become the "scheduled hours of work on a work day". Hours worked outside the agreed upon hours shall be overtime.

## **ARTICLE 12 - CALL-OUTS**

- 12.1 Employees called out for emergency and maintenance work following their normal work day or shift and after they have left the Company work place, shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at the applicable overtime rate subject to the provisions of 12.2.
- 12.2 Employees called out during the two (2) hours preceding the commencement of their normal work day or shift shall be paid at their applicable overtime rate for the time worked and the time remaining until the start of their normal work day or shift.
- 12.3 Employees called out for work on scheduled days off and Company recognized Holidays shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours at two (2) times the basic hourly rate. This shall not apply in the case of employees who perform regularly assigned duties on such days.
- 12.4 Employees on standby shall be paid for call-outs on the same basis as employees not on standby, with the exception that employees on standby driving a company vehicle shall be paid for call-outs to and from their residence.
- 12.5 Where employees are called out for work, they are deemed to be on duty for the specified minimum period or until the work for which they have been called out is completed, whichever is the longer period. Further calls received during this period shall be considered a continuation of the initial call-out and shall not be subject to minimum call-out pay.
- 12.6 When employees are scheduled to work overtime on normally scheduled days off and the scheduled overtime is cancelled by the Company with less than eight (8) hours' notice to the employees, the employees shall receive two (2) hours pay at overtime rates.

- 12.7 Travel Time
  - a. Employees who are called out to work shall be eligible for paid travel time to and from their residence up to a maximum of thirty (30) minutes each way, except for Callouts under 12.2.
  - b. The thirty (30) minute maximum shall not apply in unexpected and/or exceptional circumstances.
  - c. Paid travel time is considered part of the minimum two (2) hour callout.
- 12.8 <u>When call-outs are handled from home:</u>
  - a. If the total cumulative response of call-outs during the day (between 6:00 am and 10:00 pm):
    - i. takes 30 minutes or less, then call-out pay will not apply;
    - ii. takes greater than 30 minutes then call-out pay will apply.
  - b. For any call during the night that interrupts a person's sleep (between 10:00 pm and 6:00 am), then call-out pay will apply.

## ARTICLE 13 – STANDBY

- 13.1 Employees shall receive standby pay only when on scheduled standby or when specifically requested to perform standby duties.
- 13.2 Employees who are requested to be on standby shall receive applicable overtime for call-outs, plus:
  - a. the equivalent of one (1) hour at the top FT4 hourly rate per day for standby on each scheduled workday. Standby pay for a day off as a result of application of Attachment #3 (Rearranged Hours of Work) shall be at this scheduled workday rate;
  - b. the equivalent of two (2) hours at the top FT4 hourly rate per day on scheduled days off; and
  - c. the equivalent of three (3) hours at the top FT4 hourly rate per day for standby on a company recognized or statutory holiday, as per Clause 15.1.
- 13.3 Standby on a regular work day means that an employee shall be available on call outside of normal hours of work for the full twenty-four (24) hours. On each scheduled day off, including days off as a result of application of Attachment #3 (Rearranged hours of work), and recognized holidays, standby means on call for the full twenty-four (24) hour period.
- 13.4 The number of employees required for standby shall be determined from time to time by the Company and arranged by the Supervisor or the employee in charge.
- 13.5 The Supervisor shall be responsible for scheduling standby duties as equitably as possible having regard for safety and experience.

13.6 No employee shall be required to standby for more than twenty-five (25) consecutive days except by mutual agreement between the Company and the employee concerned. Where there is no agreement to an extension beyond the twenty-five (25) days, the Company will arrange to relieve the employee of standby duties for the following seven (7) days.

#### **ARTICLE 14 – VACATIONS**

14.1 Employees shall earn vacation with pay at an accrual rate as follows:

Years of Service Completed	Vacation Earned
less than 1 year	15 days/year pro-rated
1 to 6 years	15 days/year
7 to 15 years	20 days/year
16 to 23 years	25 days/year
24 to 29 years	30 days/year
30+ years	35 days/year

## Vacation Reference Table

Year	4 Weeks	5 Weeks	6 Weeks	7 Weeks
Hired	as of January 1,			
Up to	1999	2008	2016	2022
1992				
1993	2000	2009	2017	2023
1994	2001	2010	2018	2024
1995	2002	2011	2019	2025
1996	2003	2012	2020	2026
1997	2004	2013	2021	2027
1998	2005	2014	2022	2028
1999	2006	2015	2023	2029
2000	2007	2016	2024	2030
2001	2008	2017	2025	2031
2002	2009	2018	2026	2032
2003	2010	2019	2027	2033
2004	2011	2020	2028	2034
2005	2012	2021	2029	2035
2006	2013	2022	2030	2036
2007	2014	2023	2031	2037
2008	2015	2024	2032	2038
2009	2016	2025	2033	2039
2010	2017	2026	2034	2040
2011	2018	2027	2035	2041
2012	2019	2028	2036	2042
2013	2020	2029	2037	2043
2014	2021	2030	2038	2044
2015	2022	2031	2039	2045
2016	2023	2032	2040	2046
2017	2024	2033	2041	2047
2018	2025	2034	2042	2048
2019	2026	2035	2043	2049
2020	2027	2036	2044	2050
2021	2028	2037	2045	2051
2022	2029	2038	2046	2052
2023	2030	2039	2047	2053

14.2 Pay for vacations under 14.1 shall be at the employee's basic scheduled rate of pay applicable during the employee's vacation period. "Basic scheduled rate" for vacation pay purposes excludes overtime pay, standby pay and any temporary (less than three (3) months) higher or lower pay level/step.

- 14.3 **a.** As far as possible, employees will be granted their choice of vacation periods, but the right to allot vacation periods is reserved by the Company in order to ensure efficient operations.
  - **b.** Employees may carry over into the next calendar year, up to 37.5 hours or 40 hours, as applicable to the position.
- 14.4 In the event that a Company-recognized Holiday falls within an employees' vacation period, the employee will receive either, a regular day's pay or an additional day off in lieu of the Holiday at the discretion of the Company.
- 14.5 In the event that an employee is laid off, resigns or is discharged, the employee will be compensated in money in lieu of the accrued vacation due.
- 14.6 Employees, while working a twenty-four (24) hour continuous rotating shift schedule shall receive one (1) additional day of vacation upon completion of two (2) years of continuous shift service and an additional day upon completion of each subsequent year of continuous shift service up to a combined maximum of five (5) days. For the purpose of this clause, continuous service shall accrue beginning January 1, 1981. Vacation pay earned under this clause will not be paid on voluntary termination.

## **ARTICLE 15 - HOLIDAYS**

- 15.1 **a.** The following days will be recognized as paid holidays:
  - New Year's Day Labour Day
    - National Day for Truth and Reconciliation
  - Family Day - Good Friday
- Thanksgiving Day
- Easter Monday Remembrance Day
- Victoria Day
- Christmas Day - Boxing Day
- Canada Day - Heritage Day
- b. Holiday Pay shall be paid based on the number of hours an employee would have worked, had it not been a Holiday.
- 15.2 Any additional holidays proclaimed by the Provincial and/or Federal Governments, and generally recognized by industry, will be recognized as paid holidays.

Any additional holidays proclaimed by the Civic Governments, and generally recognized by industry, will be recognized as paid holidays, if approved by the Company.

In the event that the Legislature removes Alberta Family Day as a paid holiday, it will be removed from the above list of holidays.

- 15.3 The period of time recognized as a holiday is the twenty-four (24) hour period beginning at 00:01K on the day which is observed as the holiday.
- 15.4 When any of the holidays listed above fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the Company, at its discretion, shall declare either the preceding Friday or the following Monday as the day to be observed. When Christmas Day is observed on a Monday, Boxing Day will be observed on the following Tuesday. Shift employees shall observe the holidays listed in Article 15.1 on the calendar days on which they fall.
- 15.5 When one of these holidays is observed on an employee's day off, and such day is not worked by the employee, the Company and employee can mutually agree to another day off in lieu of the holiday or if agreement cannot be reached, the employee will receive a regular day's pay.

## ARTICLE 16 – EXPENSES

- 16.1 While working away from headquarters, employees shall be reimbursed for actual expenses of individual lodging, unless such individual accommodation cannot be obtained or the employees choose to share accommodation. Rooms, as required, shall be arranged for by the employee in charge or designate.
- 16.2 The payment of meal expenses to employees may be made on an actual incurred basis or on a meal allowance basis depending on the situation as described in Article 16.3. In all cases meal time is unpaid.

Where meal expenses are on an actual incurred basis, it is based on the principle that employees should be reimbursed for reasonable 'out of pocket' expenses so incurred. It is considered that employees should neither lose nor profit from expense allowances. This principle shall be followed in dealing with questions which may arise in connection with expenses.

Where meal expenses are on a meal allowance basis, it is based on the principle that the meal allowance reimburses employees for the average cost of meals, recognizing that the actual cost of specific meals may be lower or higher.

## 16.3 Meal Allowance

a. Meal Allowances for Employees requiring an overnight absence

Employees on business requiring an overnight absence are eligible for meal allowances based on the following criteria:

i. Where an overnight absence is required on the evening prior, or the employee is required to start work more than one (1) hour before their regular starting time, the employee shall be entitled to a breakfast allowance of **seventeen dollars (\$17.00)**.

- ii. Where the employee works that day and is required to have an overnight absence either the evening prior or that evening, the employee shall be entitled to a lunch allowance of **twenty dollars (\$20.00)**.
- iii. Where the employee works that day and is required to have an overnight absence that evening, or the employee works more than two (2) hours beyond their regular hours, the employee shall be entitled to a dinner allowance of **thirty-five dollars (\$35.00)**.

Receipts are not required.

If a meal is provided as part of the work or training assignment, (by the company, the training vendor or other external party), then the meal allowance for that meal cannot also be claimed. This shall also apply to Out of Province Travel.

b. <u>Meal Expenses Where No Overnight Absence is Required But Employee is</u> <u>Working Away From Their Headquarters</u>

Where no overnight absence is required, but the employee is working more than eight (8) kilometers away from their headquarters, the employee shall be entitled to a bag lunch of ten dollars (\$10.00), or the actual cost of meals, which must be reasonable given the location and circumstances, and be evidenced by a receipt.

c. Out of Province Travel

Employees who travel outside of the province may claim the actual cost of meals, (must be reasonable given the location and circumstances), and be evidenced by a receipt.

## d. Employees Working Overtime

When an employee works a regular full-time day and then works more than two (2) hours of continuous overtime before or after their regular shift and they were not already eligible for the applicable meal expense, the Company will provide them with a meal. If the company does not provide them with a meal, then they are eligible for the actual cost of a meal, which must be reasonable given location and circumstances, and evidenced by a receipt. The meal time is unpaid time.

- 16.4 Transportation between headquarters and the job shall be arranged by the Company.
- 16.5 Employees who are authorized to use their vehicle while on Company business shall be reimbursed at a rate as per the Corporate Business Travel and Entertainment Policy.

- 16.6 Transfer expenses shall be paid in accordance with Attachments 1 and 2 at the back of this Agreement.
- 16.7 For all overnight absences from home with the exception of optional training/conferences, employees shall be paid an incidental expense of seven dollars and seventy-five cents (\$7.75) per night. Optional training/conferences are training and conferences where employee attendance is not required by the Company.

Effective January 1, 2019, this rate shall be increased to ten dollars (\$10.00) per night.

- 16.8 Employees who perform work significantly damaging or destructive to clothing (i.e., Warehouse, Transformer Shop and other positions that may be mutually agreed to by the Company and the Association) shall be provided with, or reimbursed for, coveralls/overalls, smocks/aprons or winter outerwear as required and approved by Management.
- 16.9 Where, in the opinion of the Company, or as required by legislation or industry standards, working conditions are such that they warrant the wearing of protective clothing and/or footwear, the Company shall provide such clothing and/or footwear, or reimburse the employee for the cost of such clothing and/or footwear in accordance with the Company policies and as follows. Replacement will be made on evidence of fair wear and tear.
  - a. Approved Safety Boots and Electrically Resistive Safety Boots, or repairs, will be subsidized at 100% to a maximum reimbursement of two hundred forty dollars (\$240.00) per eligible employee per one (1) calendar year or four hundred eighty dollars (\$480.00) per eligible employee per two (2) calendar years (January 1 to December 31).
  - b. 100% of the cost of approved Conductive Boots for Linemen will be covered by the Company.
  - c. 100% of the cost of Company provided or approved Fire Resistant rated outerwear will be covered by the Company including winter parka, summer jacket, winter & summer coveralls, hoodie, 3 in 1 jacket, summer & winter bib overalls, balaclava, neck tube, hard hat liner (heavy & light duty), reflective vest, rainwear, and pants or shirts worn as outerwear. All outerwear must meet all Company safety standards including FR rating, high visibility and reflective striping.

## ARTICLE 17 – SALARIES, RATES OF PAY AND OTHER PAYMENTS

- 17.1 During the life of this Agreement, the Company agrees to pay the rates in the Pay Schedules which are attached and the Association agrees to the principle of a full day's work for a full day's pay.
- 17.2 Bargaining unit positions shall be evaluated in accordance with the existing job evaluation system, unless the Company and the Association mutually agree to implement a new system or alter the existing system.
- 17.3 The Company shall provide the necessary training in job evaluation to a representative as appointed by the Association.
- 17.4 Upon request, employees shall be provided with a current job description for their position. The Company shall provide the Association with a copy of the current job description for each bargaining unit position.
- 17.5 a. When new job classifications are established, the Company shall set and implement the wage rates thereof, and shall notify the Association thereof within fourteen (14) days of the classification being established.
  - b. When significant changes are effected to existing job classifications to the extent that the job requires re-evaluation, or the job is re-evaluated as a result of the job evaluation maintenance program, the following procedure shall be followed:
    - i. Where, in the opinion of the Association, a job classification requires reevaluation, it shall request the Company to proceed with re-evaluation and the Company shall do so within one hundred and twenty (120) days. Upon completion of any evaluation, the Company shall promptly inform the Association of any changes arising therefrom.
    - ii. Should a request for re-evaluation, resulting from changes in job content be initiated by an employee, or by the Association on the employee's behalf, and the re-evaluation results in a reclassification to a higher pay level, the reclassification shall be retroactive to the date the Company received the "Request for Review" application.
    - iii. When the Company initiates a re-evaluation of a job and the re-evaluation results in reclassification to a higher pay level as a result of changes in job content, the reclassification shall be retroactive to the date the employee returns the updated job description to the Company after receiving the "Notification of Review" letter.

c. When a dispute arises between the Association and the Company regarding a job evaluation, a Board of four (4) persons shall be established, within ten (10) working days of receipt by the Company, of the Association's notice of appeal to attempt to resolve the dispute. Two (2) representatives will be appointed by the Company and two (2) representatives will be appointed by the Association, each of the four (4) persons having one (1) equal vote. Every effort should be made to resolve the dispute within ten (10) working days of the Board's appointment. In the event that the dispute remains unresolved, the following method of settlement shall be adopted:

The Company and the Association shall submit the dispute jointly to two (2) appointees qualified in wage determination and administration, one (1) appointed by the Company and the other by the Association. Such appointees shall meet and hear all pertinent matters and render a decision within fourteen (14) days of their first meeting. In the event that the appointees cannot reach unanimity in their decision, they may appoint a third party of similar qualifications to act as Chairman, such party to be experienced in the field of job evaluation. The unanimous decision of the first two (2) appointees, or a majority decision of the three (3) appointees, shall be final and binding upon both parties.

- d. When a job classification has been evaluated and assigned a tentative rating, the classification shall be reviewed and a rating confirmed within twelve (12) months, provided the classification has been filled by the same employee.
- 17.6 a. Scheduled increases are intended to be paid for satisfactory progress. In the event that an employee is not making satisfactory progress, one (1) or more increases may be withheld, provided that the employee concerned and the Association are notified in writing by Management of the reason for withholding such increases. Should the employee fail to give satisfactory service following the withholding of an increase, the employee may be demoted or discharged at the discretion of the Company, subject to the provisions of Articles 5 and 6 of this agreement.
  - b. When a new employee is hired, reasonable allowance shall be made for experience when determining the appropriate wage step. As a guide, for every year of directly related experience, attribute one step on the pay schedule. Recognizing previous experience shall be at the sole discretion of management, and may be modified to reflect other considerations.
  - c. Should a special wage step increase be warranted during the progression period, it may be given at management's discretion. When an employee is given a special wage step increase, the next six (6) month scheduled increase shall apply from the date of the special increase, providing the employee has not reached their maximum rate.

## 17.7 <u>Temporary Assignments</u>

## a. <u>Temporary Assignment to Higher Classification</u>

An employee temporarily assigned by their Manager to a position of higher classification, for a period in excess of **three (3) consecutive working days**, shall, from the first day, be paid at the next higher pay rate applicable to the new classification. Determination of pay placement shall be in accordance with 7.7.

## b. <u>Temporary Assignment to Higher Classification – Field Onsite Work Leader,</u> <u>Field Work Leader of Field Foreman</u>

An employee temporarily assigned by their manager to a Field Onsite Work Leader, Field Work Leader or Field Foreman position for a period of one (1) day or more, shall, from the first full day, be paid at the next higher pay rate applicable to the new classification.

For the temporary assignment to be approved, the Field Onsite Work Leader, Field Work Leader or Field Foreman position must lead a crew of at least three (3) employees on any given work activity.

## c. Temporary Assignment Outside of the Bargaining Unit

An employee who is requested to perform the large majority of duties and responsibilities of a position outside the scope of this Collective Agreement for a period in excess of one (1) week will be paid, from the first day, at a rate of five percent (5%) higher than the employee's normal rate of pay. Prior to the temporary assignment taking effect, the Manager will provide a written agreement for the length of time and the scope of the duties to be performed.

17.8 No employee shall be required to take a lesser rate of pay when assigned at the Company's request to temporarily perform the duties of another employee. The foregoing shall not be construed as applying to demotion for just cause or assignment to a lower classification to provide continued employment.

## 17.9 Pyramiding

If two (2) or more premiums are applicable to the same hours worked, an employee shall receive only the highest premium applicable to such hours. For the same hours worked, an employee shall not receive a premium rate under more than one (1) provision of this Agreement unless otherwise specifically provided.

17.10 An employee who is required to work at or above a height of twenty-four and four tenths (24.4) meters [eighty (80) feet] free fall above ground level will receive, in addition to their regular rate of pay, a premium of one (1) times their normal straight time rate while so engaged. Premium height pay will be paid for each hour or part of an hour so worked. The provision of Article 17.9 shall not apply to height pay premium.

- 17.11 SICK PAY will be in accordance with the provisions of the "Group Salary Continuance Plan" in effect throughout the Company.
- 17.12 <u>Positions that are typically occupied by an Engineer</u> When the position is occupied by an Engineer, the individual shall be excluded from the bargaining unit. When the position is occupied by other than an Engineer, the individual shall be included in the bargaining unit.

Individuals with a combination of Technical diploma and relevant industry experience may be considered for these roles.

17.13 Performance Reviews will be provided to employees upon the employee's request.

## ARTICLE 18 - MATERNITY AND PARENTAL LEAVE

- 18.1 A pregnant employee will be entitled to maternity leave without pay consisting of a period not exceeding fifteen (15) weeks starting at any time during the twelve (12) weeks immediately preceding the estimated date of delivery.
- 18.2 The pregnant employee shall give the Company two (2) weeks' notice in writing of the day upon which she intends to commence maternity leave and, if requested, provide a medical certificate certifying that she is pregnant and the estimated date of delivery.
- 18.3 An employee on maternity leave must take a period of leave at least six (6) weeks immediately following the date of delivery, unless the employee and the Company agree to shorten the period. In such cases, the employee shall provide the Company with a medical certificate indicating that resumption of work will not endanger her health. NOTE: See Company policy for information regarding pay.
- 18.4 The Company shall grant an employee a leave of absence without pay for a maximum of thirty-seven (37) weeks:
  - a. immediately following the last day of maternity leave;
  - b. or a period of not more than thirty-seven (37) consecutive weeks within fiftytwo (52) weeks after the child's birth;
  - c. and in the case of an adoptive parent, a period of not more than thirty-seven (37) consecutive weeks within fifty-two (52) weeks after the child is placed with the adoptive parent for the purpose of adoption.
- 18.5 An employee's entitlement to parental leave for the purposes of adoption is conditional on having at least twelve (12) months of continuous service immediately preceding the estimated adoption date.
- 18.6 Where both prospective parents are employees of the Company and they intend to share parental leave, they must advise the Company of their intention.

- 18.7 Prior to the adoption, the employee shall notify the Company in writing of their intent to adopt, giving the estimated adoption date unless:
  - a. the medical condition of the birth mother or child makes it impossible to comply with this requirement;
  - b. the date of the child's placement with the adoptive parent was not foreseeable
- 18.8 An employee who wishes to resume employment upon the expiration of maternity or parental leave shall give the Company four (4) weeks' notice in writing of the day on which the employee intends to resume employment.
- 18.9 The Company will reinstate the employee in the position they occupied at the time maternity or parental leave commenced or provide the employee with alternative work of a comparable nature at not less than the earnings and other benefits that had accrued to the employee when the maternity or parental leave started.
- 18.10 During maternity and parental leave, the Company will make premium contributions to continue coverage based on the employees benefit selection and the employee will be required to pay any contribution based on their benefit selection that is over and above the plan credits prior to commencing their leave. Upon reinstatement, the employee will be given full credit for seniority that had accrued to the date that the employee commenced maternity and parental leave.
- 18.11 Personal Leave of Absence, Bereavement Leave, Compassion Care Leave, Jury/Witness Duty, Time Off to Vote, Military Leave and Other Time Away From Work shall be as per Company policy.

## ARTICLE 19 – BIRTHDAY HOLIDAY

- 19.1 **a.** Employees are eligible for one additional paid day off per year a Birthday Holiday. Should an employee's birthday fall on a weekend or a paid holiday as outlined in 15.1, or if the employee is unable to take their birthday off due to business needs, as far as possible, employees will be granted their choice of a day off in lieu, but the right to determine the day off in lieu is reserved by the Company in order to ensure efficient operations.
  - b. The birthday holiday shall be paid based on the number of hours an employee would have worked, had it not been their birthday.

# ARTICLE 20 - TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

- 20.1 This Agreement shall be effective from January 1, **2022** and shall remain in full force up to and including December 31, **2023** and shall continue in force thereafter, unless in any year not more than one hundred and twenty (120) days, and not less than sixty (60) days before the date of its termination, either party shall furnish the other with notice of intention to amend this Agreement. Both parties agree to commence negotiations within thirty (30) days from date of notice.
- 20.2 If notice to negotiate has been given by either party prior to date of termination, this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during any period of negotiations, in accordance with the provisions of the Labour Relations Code.
- 20.3 In the event that the Company and the Association wish to alter any Article or Attachment during the term of this Agreement, the parties may, by mutual agreement, negotiate such alterations.

# PAY SCHEDULES

In accordance with the November 29, 2012 Agreement between the parties, the annual salary calculation (regular pay) shall be based on the hourly rate multiplied by 261 days.

- <u>Office employees</u> Full time work week = 37.5 hours/week = 1957.5 hours/annually or 81.56 hours per pay period.
- <u>Field employees</u> Full time work week = 40 hours/week = 2088 hours/annually or 87.00 hours per pay period.

All levels inclusive, except Plus range, are based on time progression - six (6) months, in accordance with Article 17.6(a)

Plus range – Placement and movement within the Plus range is at management's discretion and individual increases are not subject to yearly negotiated increases. The Plus ranges shall be adjusted based on yearly negotiated increases.

Definitions:

 Grandfathering (G): Indicates positions that have been evaluated at a lower level. Employees currently in these positions continue to remain at the original level prior to evaluation, receiving the normal pay step progressions and annual increases. Once a grandfathered position has been vacated the position will then be posted and filled at the adjusted level.

- Out of Schedule (A): Indicates positions that have had a wage adjustment based on external market demand and/or compensation. Either party to this agreement may bring forward positions to be adjusted due to market demand and/or compensation. Such proposed positions will be subject to negotiation in accordance with this Collective Agreement.
- Automatic Progression (AP): Indicates positions that are subject to automatic progression to the next position level pending satisfactory performance and completion of courses where applicable.

#### **BUSINESS (BU) PAY SCHEDULE**

#### **BU Schedule 2022 Rates**

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
BU3	30.38	32.08	33.77	35.44	37.13	38.84	40.53	-	-
BU4	34.32	35.93	37.57	39.21	40.82	42.50	44.07	45.72	-
BU5	40.32	42.00	43.69	45.39	47.07	48.79	50.42	52.11	53.78
BU5A	46.18	48.03	49.89	51.74	53.58	55.24	-	-	-
BU6	46.18	48.03	49.89	51.74	53.85	55.24	-	-	-
BU6A	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-	-
BU6B	47.21	49.43	51.69	53.93	56.15	58.42	60.65	62.86	-
BU6C	48.96	50.94	52.87	54.85	56.79	58.57	-	-	-
BU5A Plus H	Range				55.24 to 61	69			
BU6 Plus Ro	ange				55.24 to 61	69			
BU6A Plus I	<i>BU6A Plus Range</i> 64.50 to 68.64								
BU6C Plus Range 58.57 to 65.92									

#### **BU Schedule 2023 Rates**

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

<b>3.0</b> /0 more		- January I,	2023 10 Dec		023				
Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
BU3	31.29	33.04	34.78	36.50	38.24	40.01	41.75	-	-
BU4	35.35	37.01	38.70	40.39	42.04	43.78	45.39	47.09	-
BU5	41.53	43.26	45.00	46.75	48.48	50.25	51.93	53.67	55.3
									9
BU5A	47.57	49.47	51.39	53.29	55.19	56.90	-	-	-
BU6	47.57	49.47	51.39	53.29	55.19	56.90	-	-	-
BU6A	59.11	61.07	63.01	64.93	66.44	-	-	-	-
BU6B	48.63	50.91	53.24	55.55	57.83	60.17	62.47	64.75	-
BU6C	50.43	52.47	54.46	56.50	58.49	60.33	-	-	-
BU5A Plu	ıs Range				56.90 to 63	3.54			
BU6 Plus	Range				56.90 to 63	3.54			
BU6A Plu	BU6A Plus Range 66.44 to 70.70								
BU6C Plu	us Range				60.33 to 67	7.90			

# DRAFTING (DR) PAY SCHEDULE

#### DR Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

			aary 1, 20			LOLL					
Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
DR3	31.69	33.99	36.33	38.67	40.98	43.25	-	-	-	-	-
DR4	45.62	47.93	50.26	52.56	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
DR5	34.41	36.67	38.94	41.24	43.48	45.75	48.02	50.29	52.55	54.83	57.09
DR6	46.00	48.16	50.33	52.50	54.67	56.83	59.03	61.20	-	-	-

#### DR Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	
DR3	32.64	35.01	37.42	39.83	42.21	44.55	-	-	-	-	-	
DR4	46.99	49.37	51.77	54.14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
DR5	35.44	37.77	40.11	42.48	44.78	47.12	49.46	51.80	54.13	56.47	58.80	
DR6	47.38	49.60	51.84	54.08	56.31	58.53	60.80	63.04	-	-	-	

# FINANCE (FI) PAY SCHEDULE

#### FI Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
FI2	28.58	30.48	32.42	34.34	36.24	38.12	-	-	-
FI3	30.98	32.70	34.43	36.14	37.86	39.59	41.32	-	-
FI4	34.97	36.65	38.30	39.98	41.63	43.32	44.94	46.61	-
FI5	41.09	42.83	44.55	46.27	47.98	49.72	51.39	53.13	54.83
FI6	47.09	48.98	50.86	52.75	54.64	56.31	-	-	-
FI6 Plus Rai	nge				56.31 to 62	2.90			

#### FI Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
FI2	29.44	31.39	33.39	35.37	37.33	39.26	-	-	-
FI3	31.91	33.68	35.46	37.22	39.00	40.78	42.56	-	-
FI4	36.02	37.75	39.45	41.18	42.88	44.62	46.29	48.01	-
FI5	42.32	44.11	45.89	47.66	49.42	51.21	52.93	54.72	56.47
FI6	48.50	50.45	52.39	54.33	56.28	58.00	-	-	-
FIG Plus Range         58.00 to 64.79									

### FIELD TECHNICAL (FT) PAY SCHEDULE

#### FT Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
FT3	36.79	39.15	41.47	43.82	46.15	48.48	-	-
FT4	50.80	53.14	55.47	57.79	60.15	-	-	-
FT5	48.02	50.19	52.39	54.53	56.72	58.89	61.05	63.21
FT6	49.26	51.49	53.72	55.97	58.19	60.42	62.66	64.89

#### FT Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increa	se Enective	January 1, 2	2023 to Dece	ember 31, 20	JZ3			
Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
FT3	37.89	40.32	42.71	45.13	47.53	49.93	-	-
FT4	52.32	54.73	57.13	59.52	61.95	-	-	-
FT5	49.46	51.70	53.96	56.17	58.42	60.66	62.88	65.11
FT6	50.74	53.03	55.33	57.65	59.94	62.23	64.54	66.84

#### 3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

# IT PAY SCHEDULE

#### IT Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8			
IT3	35.39	37.74	40.05	42.39	44.74	47.08	-	-			
IT4	49.41	51.72	54.06	56.38	58.75	-	-	-			
IT5	47.21	49.43	51.69	53.93	56.15	58.42	60.65	62.86			
IT5A	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-			
IT6	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-			
IT6C	63.11	65.20	67.29	69.34	70.96	-	-	-			
IT5A Plus Ro	ange				64.50 to 68	.64					
IT6 Plus Rar	nge		64.50 to 68.64								
IT6C Plus Ro	ange	70.96 to 75.52									

#### IT Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
IT3	36.45	38.87	41.25	43.66	46.08	48.49	-	-		
IT4	50.89	53.27	55.68	58.07	60.51	-	-	-		
IT5	48.63	50.91	53.24	55.55	57.83	60.17	62.47	64.75		
IT5A	59.11	61.07	63.01	64.93	66.44	-	-	-		
IT6	59.11	61.07	63.01	64.93	66.44	-	-	-		
IT6C	65.00	67.16	69.31	71.42	73.09	-	-	-		
IT5A Plus R	ange				66.44 to 70	.70				
IT6 Plus Rai	nge	66.44 to 70.70								
IT6C Plus R	<i>6C Plus Range</i> 73.09 to 77.79									

## LAND (LA) PAY SCHEDULE

# LA Schedule 2022 Rates

	25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022										
Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8			
LA3	35.39	37.74	40.05	42.39	44.74	47.08	-	-			
LA4	47.21	49.43	51.69	53.93	56.15	58.42	60.65	62.86			
LA6	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-			
LA6 Plus F	LA6 Plus Range 64.50 to 68.64										

# LA Schedule 2023 Rates

EA CONCAU											
3.0% Increa	3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023										
Step											
LA3	36.45	38.87	41.25	43.66	46.08	48.49	-	-			
LA4	48.63	50.91	53.24	55.55	57.83	60.17	62.47	64.75			
LA6 59.11 61.07 63.01 64.93 66.44											
LA6 Plus Range 66.44 to 70.70											

# ORGANIZATIONAL SUPPORT (OS) PAY SCHEDULE

#### OS Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
OS3	24.75	26.83	28.85	30.94	32.97	-	-	-
OS4	28.05	29.90	31.79	33.68	35.54	37.41	-	-
OS5	30.38	32.08	33.77	35.44	37.13	38.84	40.53	-
OS6	34.32	35.93	37.57	39.21	40.82	42.50	44.07	45.72

#### OS Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
OS3	25.49	27.63	29.72	31.87	33.96	-	-	-
OS4	28.89	30.80	32.74	34.69	36.61	38.53	-	-
OS5	31.29	33.04	34.78	36.50	38.24	40.01	41.75	-
OS6	35.35	37.01	38.70	40.39	42.04	43.78	45.39	47.09

# OFFICE TECHNICAL (OT) PAY SCHEDULE

#### **OT Schedule 2022 Rates**

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
OT3	35.39	37.74	40.05	42.39	44.74	47.08	-	-	-	-	-
OT3A	34.41	36.67	38.94	41.24	43.48	45.75	48.02	50.29	52.55	54.83	57.09
OT4	49.41	51.72	54.06	56.38	58.75	-	-	-	-	-	-
OT5	47.21	49.43	51.69	53.93	56.15	58.42	60.65	62.86	-	-	-
OT6	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-	-	-	-
OT6 Plus	Range				64.50 to	68.64					

#### OT Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
OT3	36.45	38.87	41.25	43.66	46.08	48.49	-	-	-	-	-
OT3A	35.44	37.77	40.11	42.48	44.78	47.12	49.46	51.80	54.13	56.47	58.80
OT4	50.89	53.27	55.68	58.07	60.51	-	-	-	-	-	-
OT5	48.63	50.91	53.24	55.55	57.83	60.17	62.47	64.75	-	-	-
OT6	59.11	61.07	63.01	64.93	66.44	-	-	-	-	-	-
OT6 Plus	Range				66.44 to	70.70					

# PROJECTS (PR) PAY SCHEDULE

#### PR Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Incr	ease Effecti	ve January	1, 2022 to D	ecember 3	1, 2022					
Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	
PR3	30.38	32.08	33.77	35.44	37.13	38.84	40.53	-	-	
PR4	40.32	42.00	43.69	45.39	47.07	48.79	50.42	52.11	53.78	
PR5	46.18	48.03	49.89	51.74	53.58	55.24	-	-	-	
PR5A	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-	-	
PR6	57.39	59.29	61.17	63.04	64.50	-	-	-	-	
PR6C	60.83	62.85	64.85	66.82	68.37	-	-	-	-	
PR5 Plus R	ange				55.24 to 61	.69				
PR5A Plus	Range	ange 64.50 to 68.64								
PR6 Plus R	ange 64.50 to 68.64									
PR6C Plus	Range				68.37 to 72	.76				

#### PR Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		
PR3	31.29	33.04	34.78	36.50	38.24	40.01	41.75	-	-		
PR4	41.53	43.26	45.00	46.75	48.48	50.25	51.93	53.67	55.39		
PR5	47.57	49.47	51.39	53.29	55.19	56.90	-	-	-		
PR5A	59.11	61.07	63.01	64.93	66.44	-	-	-	-		
PR6	59.11	61.07	63.01	64.93	66.44	-	-	-	-		
PR6C	62.65	64.74	66.80	68.82	70.42	-	-	-	-		
PR5 Plus R	ange				56.90 to 63	.54					
PR5A Plus	Range		66.44 to 70.70								
PR6 Plus R	ange	66.44 to 70.70									
PR6C Plus	Range				70.42 to 74	.94					

## TRADES (TR) PAY SCHEDULE

## TR Schedule 2022 Rates

2.25% Increase Effective January 1, 2022 to December	31, 2022

Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
TR3	35.83	38.08	40.36	42.63	44.89	47.15	49.42	51.69	-	-	-
TR4	54.61	56.86	59.12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TR5	48.02	50.19	52.39	54.53	56.72	58.89	61.05	63.21	-	-	-
TR5A	37.44	39.80	42.11	44.45	46.78	49.10	51.44	53.76	56.11	58.42	60.78
TR6	49.26	51.49	53.72	55.97	58.19	60.42	62.66	64.89	-	-	-

#### TR Schedule 2023 Rates

3.0% Increase Effective January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023

••••											
Step	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
TR3	36.90	39.22	41.57	43.91	46.24	48.56	50.90	53.24	-	-	-
TR4	56.25	58.57	60.89	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
TR5	49.46	51.70	53.96	56.17	58.42	60.66	62.88	65.11	-	-	-
TR5A	38.56	40.99	43.37	45.78	48.18	50.57	52.98	55.37	57.79	60.17	62.60
TR6	50.74	53.03	55.33	57.65	59.94	62.23	64.54	66.84	-	-	-

# JOB CLASSIFICATIONS

# **BUSINESS (BU)**

	BU 6
•	Asset Information Work Leader
•	Asset Mgmt Info Program Coord
•	Consultation Specialist
•	Controls & Compliance Analyst II
•	Data Integrity & Regulatory Comp Coordinator
•	EHS Analyst II
•	Key Account Manager
•	Knowledge Development Specialist
•	Master Data Analyst
•	Material Analyst
•	Project Field Scoping Coordinator
•	Regulatory Research & Compliance Specialist
•	Senior Accounts Representative
•	Senior Business Process Analyst
•	Senior Communications Advisor
•	Senior Commercial Representative
•	Senior Contracts & Sourcing Specialist
•	Senior Indigenous Relations Advisor
•	Senior Performance Excellence Advisor
•	Senior Regulatory Analyst
•	Senior Sourcing Advisor
•	Service Development Project Manager
٠	Technical Writer

BU 5
<ul> <li>Business Analyst – Procurement and Materials</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Business Analyst Reporting Specialist</li> </ul>
Business Process Analyst
Buyer II
Communications Advisor II
Contracts Analyst II
Facilities Specialist
Instructional Designer
Knowledge Development Advisor
Physical Security Coordinator
Regulatory Application Specialist
Regulatory Coordinator
Regulatory Market Analyst
Regulatory Policy Analyst
Safety Trainer
Senior Facility Coordinator

BU 4
Account Representative
<ul> <li>Business Process Analyst – Customer Services</li> </ul>
Buyer I
Communications Advisor
Consultation Planner
Controls and Compliance Analyst I
Digital Communications Advisor
EHS Analyst I
Facility Coordinator
Graphic Designer
Indigenous Relations Advisor
Market Analyst
Regulatory Applications Analyst
Scorecard Coordinator
Supplier Qualification Analyst I

BU 3
<ul> <li>Business Process Analyst – Customer Services (AP)</li> </ul>
Consultation Planner
Communications Advisor (AP)
Material Expeditor

# DRAFTING (DR)

	DR 6
Drafting Work Leader	

D	R 5
Draftsperson II	

DR 4	
Draftsperson	

	DR 3
Draftsperson (AP)	

# FINANCE (FI)

	FI 6
•	Budget Analyst III
•	Capital Planning & Reporting Lead
•	Finance Specialist
•	Regulatory Financial Analyst
•	Senior A/P Analyst
•	Senior Capital Asset Accountant
•	Senior Corporate Finance Specialist
•	Senior Corporate Reporting Specialist
•	Senior Financial Systems Analyst
•	Senior Payroll Leader

	FI 5
Budge	et Analyst II
Capita	al Asset & Inventory Accountant
<ul> <li>Finan</li> </ul>	cial Analyst
<ul> <li>Finan</li> </ul>	cial Systems Analyst
Treas	sury Analyst

FI 4
A/P Analyst
A/P Financial Analyst
Budget Analyst
<ul> <li>Business Analyst/Staging Gate &amp; Reporting Analyst</li> </ul>
Capital Asset Accountant
Corporate Reporting Analyst
Finance in Training
Financial Reporting Analyst
Payroll Analyst

FI 3	
A/P Accountant II	
Capital Asset Accountant (AP)	

	FI 2
•	A/P Accountant I
•	A/R Accountant
٠	Finance Support Clerk
•	Payroll Assistant

# FIELD TECHNICAL (FT)

FT 6
HVDC Field Technologist WL
P&C Technologist III
P&C Technologist WL
Substation Technical Specialist
Substation Technologist WL
Subs Work Methods Specialist & Trainer
Telecom System Technologist WL

FT 5
Field Coordinator - Substations
HVDC Field Technologist
P&C Technologist II
Safety Specialist
Station Technologist II
Sub Technologist OS WL
Substation Technologist II

FT 4	
Metering Services Technologist	
P & C Technologist	
Safety Advisor	
Safety System Oversight	
Station Technologist	
Substation Technologist	
Telecom System Technologist	

FT 3
Metering Services Technologist (AP)
P & C Technologist (AP)
Safety System Oversight (AP)
Substation Technologist (AP)
Telecom System Technologist (AP)

# INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT)

	IT 6
•	Cyber Security Analyst
•	DevOps Work Leader
•	EMS Technology Lead
•	Enterprise Business Analyst
•	GIS Application Specialist
•	IS Project Manager III
•	ISMS Coordinator
•	IT Business Analyst
•	PI Application Specialist
•	SAP ABAP Workflow Leader
•	SAP Basis
•	SAP Technical Leader BW
•	SAP Workflow Analyst
•	Senior Business Process Specialist
•	Senior Infrastructure Specialist
•	Senior IS Programmer Analyst
•	Senior SAP Technical Specialist
•	Senior SharePoint Administrator
•	Senior SharePoint Solutions Analyst WL
•	Senior Systems Analyst
•	Senior Technical Specialist
•	Sr Business Intelligence Specialist

IT 5
Application Specialist
GIS Programmer Analyst
ISMS Performance Analyst
ISO Controls Analyst
IT Support Service Tech Coordinator
PC & SW Specialist
Programmer Analyst
Real Time System Analyst III
SAP Functional Analyst (BI, FICO, PM, HR, PS, MM)
SharePoint Administrator
Sr Business Intelligence Analyst

IT 4	
Business System Administrator	
IS Project Manager II	
IT Hardware/Spec Apps Analyst	
Real Time System Analyst II	
SAP Technical Analyst I	

	IT 3
•	IS Project Manager I
•	Real Time System Analyst

# LAND (LA)

	LA 6
•	Property Acquisition Coordinator
•	Senior Right of Way Access Coordinator
•	Senior Right of Way Planner
•	Surface Land Coordinator III

LA 4
Right of Way Access Coordinator
Right of Way Planner
Surface Land Coordinator

LA 3
Right of Way Access Coordinator (AP)
Right of Way Planner (AP)
Surface Land Coordinator (AP)

# ORGANIZATIONAL SUPPORT

OS 6
Document Control Lead
Senior Commitment Coordinator
TDDM Coordinator
Warehouse WL

OS 5
Asset Information Specialist
Commitment Coordinator
Compliance Administrator
Crossing Coordinator II
Data Hearing & Technical Support
Document Control Coordinator
Engineering Clerk
Field Administrative Specialist
Hearing Support Assistant
Inventory Coordinator
ISMS Document Control Clerk
Land Administrator
Legal Administrative Assistant
Senior Master Records Clerk
Project Scheduling and Delivery Assistant
TDDM Administrator
Training Services Coordinator
Warehouse Operator

OS 4
Administrative Assistant
Communications Coordinator
Consultation Support
Contracts Administrator
Crossing Coordinator I
Data Entry Regulatory Assistant
Drafting Document Control
Document Control Administrator
Document Controller
Engineering Standards Admin
Facilities Coordinator
GIS Data Return Specialist
Master Records Clerk
ORI Portfolio Support
Project Accountant Administrator
Project Document Support
TDDM Clerk
Technical Documents Custodian
Warehouse Clerk

OS 3
Administrative Clerk
Data Entry Clerk
Facility Maintenance Worker
Mail Room Clerk
Receptionist

# OFFICE TECHNICAL (OT)

~	_	~
Ο		6

- Maintenance Analyst (Network, Substation, P & C, Telecom)
- Senior Environmental Advisor

OT 5
Corporate Sustainability Specialist
Environmental Advisor II
Fleet Coordinator
GIS Technician II
Historical Resource Advisor II
Lines Capital & Maintenance Planner
Maintenance Planner
Network Operations Technologist
Power System Technologist
Scorecard Analyst

OT 4
Data Verification Analyst
Disturbance Analysis Technologist
Environmental Advisor
GIS Technician I
Historical Resource Advisor
Line Impedance Technologist
Lines Capital & Maintenance Scheduler
Maintenance Scheduler
Metering Operations Assistant (G)
Metering System Analyst
Permit Coordinator
Transmission Lines Encroachment Technologist

OT 3
Data Verification Analyst (AP)
Disturbance Analysis Technologist (AP)
Environmental Advisor
Historical Resource Advisor (AP)
Line Impedance Technologist (AP)
Metering Operations Assistant
Metering System Analyst (AP)
Permit Coordinator (AP)
Transmission Lines Encroachment Technologist (AP)

# PROJECTS (PR)

PR 6	
Project Controls Analyst III	
Project Governance Lead	
Project Schedule Lead	
Senior Business Systems Specialist	

	PR 5
• F	Project Controls Analyst II
• F	Project Estimator
• 5	Senior Scheduler/Planner

	PR 4
٠	Project Controls Analyst
٠	Project Resource Coordinator

PR 3
<ul> <li>Project Controls Analyst (AP)</li> </ul>

# TRADES (TR)

TR 6
Senior Transmission Lines Work Specialist
Transmission Construction Specialist
Transmission Lineman Foreman
Vegetation Management & ROW Coordinator

TR 5
Construction Coordinator
Field Coordinator
High Voltage Equipment OS WL
Int Proj Lines Tech Assistant
Right of Way Construction Coordinator
Telecom System Tower Service Technician OS WL
Transmission Construction Assistant
Transmission Facilities Specialist
Transmission Line On-Site WL
Transmission Line Specialist
Vegetation Management Spec

TR 4
High Voltage Equipment Technician
Right of Way Maintenance Tech
Substation Electrician
Telecom System Tower Service Technician
Transmission Power Line Technician

TR 3
Apprentice Power Line Technician (AP)
Crane & Equipment Operator (AP)
High Voltage Equipment Technician (AP)
Right of Way Maintenance Technician (AP)
Substation Electrician Apprentice (AP)
Telecom System Tower Service Technician (AP)

# ATTACHMENT 1 - TRANSFER EXPENSES - IN-SCOPE EMPLOYEES

The intent of the following transfer expense enhancements is to support the career choice of staff while strengthening our capacity to do business. Either the Company or the Association can cancel this arrangement by serving two (2) weeks' notice to the other. In that event, the Company and the Association would share responsibility to create a mutually acceptable alternative.

# <u>Part 1</u>

When an employee is transferred at the request of the Company or is transferred as a result of being the successful bidder for a posted job, the following shall apply, provided the employee moves within one (1) year from the date of transfer and the position bid to is assessed by the Company to add value to the employee and the Company (e.g., includes lessening of responsibility where there is reasonable potential for that employee's growth in the near future to justify the investment).

- a. <u>Travel and Living Expenses of Employee and Members of Employees Family</u>
  - 1. Any trips that an employee makes to investigate a vacant position will be at the employee's expense and on his own time.
  - One (1) round trip to the new location for the employee (and spouse, if applicable) to locate suitable permanent accommodation, including mileage, meals and three (3) nights' lodgings.
  - 3. Transportation to the new location for the employee and one (1) round trip later, if the employee is married, to transport his family. Transportation expenses will be limited to bus fare or payment for the use of the employee's personal car at the current Company car allowance rate.
  - 4. Lodging and meals, if required, for the employee and his family while enroute to the new location.
  - 5. After reaching the new location, reimbursement will be limited to living expenses, including lodging and meals for the employee and members of his family until relocation or up to a maximum of fourteen (14) days, whichever is the shorter period of time.
  - 6. Telephone, parking and gratuity expenses directly involved with the move.

# b. Moving of Household Furnishings

1. Cost of packing, moving and unpacking normal household possessions being moved from the employee's former principal residence to the employee's new location.

- 2. Cost of insurance for normal household possessions while being moved or held in storage.
- 3. Cost of storage up to sixty (60) days when an employee is required to vacate their old residence before being able to occupy suitable accommodation at the new location.

When the senior supervisor has been advised and agrees that the original accommodation is unsatisfactory for permanent living quarters, allowable expenses will include the cost of a second move up to a maximum of one hundred dollars (\$100.00).

c. Miscellaneous Transfer Expenses

Payment of up to a maximum of one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) to cover actual miscellaneous expenses resulting from a transfer, but not to include replacement of drapes and/or rugs. Receipts are not required by the Company for miscellaneous expense claims of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) or less. If claims are in excess of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) receipts are required for all expenses claimed.

# d. Duplicate Housing Expenses

Allowable expenses will consist of the following items, if duplication of costs occurs:

- 1. Interest on mortgage or equivalent financing at former principal residence.
- 2. Real estate taxes at former principal residence.
- 3. Utility accounts at former principal residence.
- 4. House, garage and locker rent.
- 5. Room and board.

These expenses will be allowed from the date the employee begins to incur duplicate expenses and will continue up to a maximum period of three (3) months or until duplicate expenses stop, whichever is the shorter period.

## e. <u>Expenses Incurred on the Sale and Purchase of a Transferred Employee's Principal</u> <u>Residence</u>

- 1. Actual brokerage fee to a licensed realtor up to a maximum of seven percent (7%) of the first \$100,000 and three percent (3%) on the balance of the selling price of the employee's principal residence, providing the home is sold within three (3) months of the transfer. If the residence is not sold within three (3) months, the brokerage fee to be paid will be based on an appraisal at the time of transfer or the actual sale price, whichever is the lower. The brokerage fee is to be supported by receipts.
- 2. Actual legal expenses, up to a maximum of the tariff schedule of the Law Society of Alberta, providing the fees are supported by receipts.
- 3. Actual lender-assessed interest penalty upon breaking a first mortgage up to a maximum of three (3) months. The penalty fee is to be supported by receipts.

# f. Interim Financing

In cases where an employee must purchase a residence at the new location before having realized equity from the sale of the employee's former principal residence, the Company will pay the interest on interim financing for a period not to exceed ninety (90) days.

The amount of interim financing on which the Company will pay interest will be a maximum of the equity in the former principal residence that is being sold (equity being the guaranteed price less any mortgages and/or loans and less 1.5 % of the guaranteed price to cover closing adjustments)

## g. Exceptions

When extraordinary or unforeseen circumstances arise, exceptions may be allowed to the above policy, but at the sole discretion of the Company.

# <u>Part 2</u>

When an employee is transferred at the request of the Company or is transferred as a result of being the successful bidder for a posted job, the following shall apply provided the employee moves within one (1) year from the date of transfer and the position bid is assessed by the Company not to add value to the employee or the Company (e.g., includes lessening of responsibility where there is no reasonable potential for that employee's growth in the near future to justify the investment)

- a. <u>Travel and Living Expenses of Employees and Members of Employee's Family</u>
  - 1. Any trips that an employee makes to investigate a vacant position will be at the employee's expense and on his own time.
  - 2. Transportation to the new location for the employee and one (1) round trip later, if the employee is married, to transport his family. Transportation expenses will be limited to bus fare or payment for the use of the employee's personal car at the current Company car allowance rate.
  - 3. Lodging and meals, if required, for the employee and his family while enroute to the new location.
  - 4. After reaching the new location, reimbursement will be limited to living expenses, including lodging and meals for the employee and members of his family until relocation or up to a maximum of fourteen (14) days, whichever is the shorter period of time.
  - 5. Telephone, parking and gratuity expenses directly involved with the move.
- b. Moving of Household Furnishings
  - 1. Cost of Packing, moving and unpacking normal household possessions being moved from the employee's former principal residence to his new location.

- 2. Cost of insurance for normal household possessions while being moved or held in storage.
- 3. Cost of storage up to sixty (60) days when an employee is required to vacate his old residence before being able to occupy suitable accommodation at his new location.

When the senior supervisor has been advised and agrees that the original accommodation is unsatisfactory for permanent living quarters, allowable expenses will include the cost of a second move up to a maximum of one hundred dollars (\$100.00).

c. Miscellaneous Transfer Expenses

Payment of up to a maximum of seven hundred dollars (\$700.00) to cover actual miscellaneous expenses resulting from a transfer, but not to include replacement of drapes and/or rugs. Receipts are not required by the Company for miscellaneous expense claims of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) or less. If claims are in excess of two hundred dollars (\$200.00) receipts are required for all expenses claimed.

### d. <u>Duplicate Housing Expenses</u> Allowable expenses will consist of the following items, if duplication of costs occurs:

- 1. Interest on mortgage or equivalent financing at former principal residence.
- 2. Real estate taxes at former principal residence.
- 3. Utility accounts at former principal residence.
- 4. House, garage and locker rent.
- 5. Room and board.

These expenses will be allowed from the date the employee begins to incur duplicate expenses and will continue up to a maximum period of three (3) months or until duplicate expenses stop, whichever is the shorter period.

e. Exceptions

When extraordinary or unforeseen circumstances arise, exceptions may be allowed to the above policy, but at the sole discretion of the Company.

# ATTACHMENT 2 - TRANSFER EXPENSES - MOBILE HOMES

When an employee is transferred at the request of the Company or is transferred as a result of being the successful bidder for a posted job, the moving of a mobile home and eventual reimbursement will be at the most competitive rate based on estimates received from three (3) carriers. All proposed moving arrangements will be approved by the applicable supervisor.

Persons transferred under the provisions of this policy are eligible for reimbursement, as outlined below, provided the employee moves within one (1) year from date of transfer.

- a. The Following Are Considered Allowable Expenses in the Moving of a Mobile Home
  - 1. The towing by one (1) tractor unit of a single width mobile home and by two (2) tractor units for a double width mobile home from the employee's former location to his new location.
  - 2. The unblocking, packing, reblocking, separation, rejoining of the mobile home and the rental of wheels.
  - 3. Dead mileage charges where no local moving firm is available and the moving must be contracted to a firm from another city.
  - 4. Pilot car service as required by law.
  - 5. Insurance for the mobile home and for normal household possessions, while being moved, where sufficient insurance is not provided by the moving firm.
  - 6. Temporary parking, up to a maximum of ninety (90) days, of the mobile home at the new location when an employee is required to vacate his old location and is unable to immediately secure permanent mobile home rental space.
  - 7. Payment of up to a maximum of one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) to cover actual miscellaneous expenses resulting from a transfer, but not to include replacement of drapes and/or rugs. Receipts are not required by the Company for miscellaneous expense claims of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) or less. If claims are in excess of three hundred dollars (\$300.00) receipts are required for all expenses claimed.
  - 8. Auxiliary transportation for such items as: fuel tanks, blocks, skirts, sheds, fences and porches, up to fifty percent (50%) of the hauling cost of a single width mobile home (see item 1 above).
- b. <u>Travel and Living Expenses of Employee and Members of Employee's Family</u>
  - 1. Transportation to the new location for the employee and one (1) round trip later, if the employee is married, to transport their family. Transportation expenses will be

limited to bus fare or payment for use of the employee's personal car at the current Company car allowance rate.

- 2. Lodging and meals, if required, for the employee and their family while enroute to the new location.
- 3. After reaching new location, reimbursement will be limited to living expenses, including lodging and meals for the employee and members of the family until relocation or up to a maximum of fourteen (14) days, whichever is the shorter period of time.
- 4. Telephone, parking and gratuity expenses directly involved with the move.

### c. Exceptions

When extraordinary or unforeseen circumstances arise, exceptions may be allowed to the above policy but at the sole discretion of the Company.

## ATTACHMENT 3 - REARRANGED HOURS OF WORK - (10 Hour Day, 4 Day Week) TRANSMISSION TECHNOLOGISTS AND TRANSMISSION CREWS

### Employees Covered

Protection and Control Technologist, Substation Technologist, Telecom System Technologist, Telecom System Tower Servicemen, **High Voltage Equipment Facility (HVEF)**, Transmission Crews, and Transmission Lines Specialist. Other employees may have similar work arrangements subject to mutual agreement between the Company and employees and other conditions as per Article 11.3

### **Duration**

During the months of May to October and beyond as mutually agreed between the Company and employees.

### <u>Conditions</u>

- 1. Generally, the principle followed for instituting rearranged hours of work is based on the premise that no additional costs are incurred by the Company, and that the quality of work does not deteriorate.
- 2. Ten (10) hour days from 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. with one (1) hour off for lunch and the work week shall be any four (4) consecutive days, Monday through Saturday.

In a week there is a Company-recognized holiday, **the Company may require** employees **to** work the other four (4) days as four (4), eight (8) hour days, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., with one (1) hour off for lunch.

- 1. Any paid days off, as stated in Company policies, will remain at eight (8) hours per day, with the exception of Clauses 15.1 b. and 19.1 b.
- 2. For certain events such as training or conferences, the schedule will revert back to five (5) eight (8) hour days.

## Article Changes

The following Articles in the Agreement are amended as follows during the period noted above.

# ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK

## 8.2 Field Staff

Eight (8), ten (10) hour days shall constitute a regular two (2) week work period.

a. Non-Shift Employees

Normal field hours for Transmission Technologists, and Transmission Crews shall be from 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., with one (1) hour off for lunch. The regular workweek shall be any four (4) consecutive days, Monday through Saturday. In the week that there is a Company-recognized holiday; the other four (4) days

shall be worked from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. on an eight (8) hour day, with one (1) hour off for lunch. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice, the Company may change the normal hours shown by one (1) hour or less.

### ARTICLE 14 - VACATIONS

For the purposes of this Article, a day equals eight (8) hours. E.g. When an employee takes a scheduled ten (10) hour day off for vacation, it is equal to ten (10) hours vacation or 1.25 vacation days.

## ATTACHMENT 4 - REARRANGED HOURS OF WORK - FIELD STAFF WORKING IN SHOP ENVIRONMENTS

## Employees covered

Field staff employees working in the: Transmission Material Yards

## Agreement Changes

The following Articles in the Agreement are amended as follows:

## ARTICLE 8 - HOURS OF WORK

## 8.2 Field Staff

- a. Non-Shift Employees General
  - 1. Eight (8) hours and thirty (30) minutes shall constitute a regular workday and five (5) days shall constitute a regular workweek. A Monday or Friday off per month shall be designated by the Company for each employee.
  - 2. Normal field staff hours shall be from 7:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday with one (1) hour off for lunch. It is agreed that on forty-eight (48) hours' notice the Company may change the normal starting time providing the regular hours occur between 6:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. If mutually agreeable between the Company and an employee in a work unit, a one-half (1/2) hour lunch period may be granted.

### **ARTICLE 14 - VACATIONS**

For the purposes of these Articles, a day equals eight (8) hours.

# ATTACHMENT 5 - EXTENSIVE OVERNIGHT ABSENCES

The intent of this provision is to recognize and provide additional vacation to compensate for the disruption and inconvenience resulting from extensive occurrences of overnight absences from home.

Overnight absences in excess of twenty (20) per calendar year will be credited towards additional vacation days as described below.

# Determining the Amount of Additional Vacation

After reaching twenty (20) nights the employee will be eligible for one additional day vacation for each eight (8) nights absence thereafter. At the end of the calendar year the number of additional vacation days earned will be determined by subtracting twenty (20) from the total overnight absences and dividing by eight (8). Any nights remaining will be carried over to the next year.

For example:

67 absences - 20 = 5 vacation days plus, 7 absences carried over to be credited to next year's total nights absent.

No carryover will occur if the total number of absences is less than twenty (20).

For example:

 $\frac{18-20}{8} = 0$  vacation days and 0 carried over.

The maximum number of additional days that can be earned is ten (10). No carryover will be credited to the next year's total nights absent if an employee earns the maximum ten (10) days.

## Scheduling Vacations

The additional days earned will be added to the subsequent year's vacation entitlement and will be administered as per the policy for regular vacation, termination payout will also be administered in accordance with the policy for regular vacation.

## Some Absences Will Not Be Credited

Absences due to optional training, seminars and conferences will not be included in the calculation of overnight absences. Optional training is such training that is not required by the individual employee or the Company.

# PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

# COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

The Collective Agreement applies to part-time employees, with the following amendments:

Article 1 - Spirit of Agreement - amend by adding as following:

The Company and the Association acknowledge the principle of full-time employment while recognizing the value of flexibility through the inclusion of part-time employees in the Collective Agreement.

Article 2 - Recognition

Clause 2.2 - amend by adding as follows:

A permanent part-time employee is a person who is hired to perform work in a classification covered by this Agreement for an aggregate of not more than nine (9) months for each calendar year of employment. This equates to 1,560 hours per year for field classifications and 1,462.5 hours per year for office classifications. Aggregate part-time hours worked will include regular hours worked in an employee's normal position and location. The following hours worked will not be included in the computation of aggregate hours in another position or location; hours to provide coverage for medical purposes; hours on or covering for Association business; hours for training or covering for training purposes.

The Company holds accountability for respecting the part-time hours arrangement. Parttime employees hold accountability for identifying exceptions to aggregate hours. As early as possible, if it appears likely that an assignment may extend beyond an aggregate of nine (9) months in a calendar year, the Company will seek such agreement with the Association. If agreement is not reached, then the Company and the Association share the responsibility to create a mutually acceptable arrangement.

<u>Article 7 - Promotions, Job Postings and Temporary Assignments</u> Clause 7.7 - amend by adding new last paragraph as follows:

A permanent part-time employee's change in status to permanent full-time shall not be considered a promotion under this clause.

Article 8 - Hours of Work - amend in its entirety as follows:

Given the Company need for flexibility in scheduling part-time employees to get the work done, hours of work for individual part-time employees may vary.

The intent of this provision is that prior to January 1 of each calendar year, supervisors and individual part-time employees shall hold a conversation to reach general agreement on the hours to be worked over the coming twelve (12) month period. Such agreement

shall not be construed as a guarantee of any minimum nor as a restriction to any maximum hours to be worked.

Working hours and lunch periods will generally be aligned with those of the full-time employees in the same work unit. It is understood that part-time employees may work less than full shifts or may work on Saturdays.

### Article 10 - Overtime

The intent of this Article is to designate working hours for which overtime rates are paid. Outside of the normal hours of the work unit,

- a) hours required to be worked shall be paid as overtime and
- b) hours offered on a voluntary basis shall be paid overtime only for those hours which exceed the amount of the applicable daily or weekly standard.

## Article 12 - Call-Outs - amend by adding as follows:

Part-time employees qualify for this Article if called out for work outside of the normal hours of the work unit.

#### Article 14 - Vacation

Clause 14.1 - amend as follows:

Using the vacation tables in 14.1, part-time employees will receive prorated vacation based on the employee's percentage of full-time hours and years of service.

Years of Service Completed	Vacation Earned
Less than 1 year	15 days/year pro-rated
1 to 6 years	15 days/year
7 to 15 years	20 days/year
16 to 23 years	25 days/year
24 to 29 years	30 days/year
30+ years	35 days/year

#### Article 15 - Holidays

Clause 15.1 - amend by adding new last paragraph as follows:

Part-time employees who would normally work the day on which a holiday falls will be paid what they would have been paid had they worked. Holiday pay for employees who work irregular days will be at the discretion of the Supervisor.

<u>Article 17 - Salaries, Rates of Pay and Other Payments</u> Part-time service for pay purposes will be calculated as follows:

- (Field) 1,040 regular hours worked equals six (6) months of full-time equivalent service.
- (Office) 975 regular hours worked equals six (6) months of full-time equivalent service.

### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1 FIELD TECHNOLOGISTS – FLOATER POSITIONS

The intent of this Letter of Understanding is to allow the Company to hire junior personnel into the Protection & Control Technologist, Substation Technologist and Telecom Technologist positions, with the intent to develop a sustainable workforce.

In order to develop the competence of staff that will address pending retirements and unplanned vacancies, the Company will, from time to time, post positions as "floaters". The positions will be posted internally and externally.

The bulk of these postings would be in Calgary and Acheson. This will allow the junior staff to optimize their competence development due to exposure to the maximum amount of equipment and configurations as well as existing staff to serve as mentors. As these staff develop their competence, and vacancies occur in another location, they may be requested to move.

## Permanent Placement

- When a vacancy becomes available that a floater could be assigned to, the vacancy shall be posted and may be restricted to applicants from within the same job classification (e.g. Protection & Control Technologist to Protection & Control Technologist). The vacancy created by movement of a non-floater can be filled by the floater without further posting.
- 2. Should a floater be asked to move to another location within the first three (3) years of service and declines, it will be deemed a voluntary resignation and their employment will be terminated.
- 3. Transfer Expenses
  - a. If a floater employee is permanently placed within the first year of employment, Attachment 1, Part 1, a d applies.
  - b. If a floater employee is permanently placed at any time after the first year and prior to three (3) years of service, Attachment 1, Part 1 will be applied in its entirety.
- 4. If a floater is not assigned to another location within three (3) years from the time they are hired, their current location will be their permanent location.

Dated: April 22, 2004 Re-signed: June 9, 2009 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2 GUIDELINES FOR THE USE OF CONTRACTORS

Contractors may be hired to perform work that otherwise might be considered to fall under the scope of the Association in the following circumstances:

When the work required to be performed is:

- to cover peak workloads when sufficient internal resources are not available; or
- to replace internal resources when they are completing special assignments; or
- of a short-term nature.

OR

Where the skills required are:

• considered special and not available internally or not available for individual hire in the employment market, or when not required on a permanent basis.

In all of the circumstances described, the maximum length of time that an individual contractor is allowed under these guidelines is one (1) year, unless otherwise agreed upon between the Association and the Company.

The Employer agrees to every six (6) months, or more frequently where agreed by the parties:

- a) provide the Association with a list that contains all information regarding contracting out of bargaining unit work;
- b) meet with the Association to discuss and identify ways to retain work. The final decision in this regard remains with the Employer.

Re-signed: June 9, 2010 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3 JOB SHARING

No Job Share arrangements shall be implemented unless the Company and the Association agree, to the terms and conditions, in writing.

Re-signed: June 9, 2010 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

## LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4 PENSION AND BENEFITS

The Company will provide benefits to non-union and UUWA employees, which include these general areas:

- pension
- extended health care
- dental care
- partial reimbursement for Alberta Health Care
- life insurance
- short term disability
- long term disability employee paid
- employee assistance plan

Part-time employee benefits may vary from those of full-time employees.

The Company will discuss any changes to the pension or benefit plans with the Association prior to implementation and will provide reasonable notice prior to any change being implemented.

The Company will give a minimum of six (6) months' notice for any significant changes to benefits and pension, excluding changes which result from events the Company doesn't initiate, such as changes in government or regulatory legislation or policy, changes resulting from changes from benefit or pension providers, or changes resulting directly or indirectly from events outside of the Company's control, including changes in pension plan assets.

The Company will contribute to the pension, for each employee, an amount at least equal to the employee's contribution.

Re-signed: June 9, 2010 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

## LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5 RETIREE RETENTION UNIQUE WORK ARRANGEMENTS

The intent of this letter of understanding is to recognize that it is AltaLink's desire to accommodate individual employee needs with unique work arrangements, specifically those employees who are eligible for retirement. These Retiree Retention Unique Work Arrangements, (RRUWA) may be approved by management provided they meet business needs. In determining if a RRUWA meets business needs, management will consider the individuals skills, competencies and attitudes as well as the position requirements. These arrangements must be made prior to the employee retiring or leaving a permanent bargaining unit position.

Further to this, the following would apply:

- The UUWA, the employee and the company will work collaboratively on the specific terms of an RRUWA.
- An RRUWA will be entered into by individual employees and Management on a voluntary basis, requiring approval by both the employee and the company.
- Prior to implementing a RRUWA, the agreement will be reviewed with the UUWA.
- It is not the intent to violate any terms of the collective agreement. In any event, an exception to any terms of the collective agreement that is not generally covered by this letter of understanding requires the UUWA approval.
- As the RRUWA is meant to accommodate specific individual needs, it is not subject to job posting provisions.
- RRUWA may include, but is not limited to the following:
  - reduced hours of work (e.g., part-time)
  - flexible work hours or days
  - telecommuting
  - job sharing
  - different roles (e.g., mentoring role)
  - extended leave of absence
  - seasonal or project work
  - casual or irregular hours of work
  - duty modifications to retain or transfer knowledge and skills
- Terms may include trial periods

The parties agree that this letter of understanding does not give employees the right to unique work arrangements either based on employee wishes, having reached retirement eligibility or approval of RRUWA for other employees. Unique work arrangements are special cases mutually agreed to by the employee, the Company and the UUWA.

Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

## LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #6 WORKING FROM HOME

It is agreed that if potential **working from home** opportunities arise during the life of this Collective Agreement, the following items, as a minimum, shall be discussed with the goal to achieve mutual agreement.

- 1. The provisions of the Collective Agreement remain in effect for the employee.
- 2. Working from home will commence and continue based on mutual consent of the company and the employee.
- 3. The employee retains some form of access to a workspace at the Company location and electronic access to co-workers and Association officials.

The parties agree that this letter is not authorization to begin offering working from home to Association members, but rather it provides a basis for discussion of critical areas that would require agreement after fully considering the needs of the employee, the Company, and the Association.

No working from home situations shall be entered into unless agreed to in writing by the Company and the Association.

Employees who are interested in working from home situations shall apply in writing to their Leader with a copy to Human Resources. All working from home agreements will be on a three-month trial basis with a review period and will not be automatically renewed. Considerations will be made based on an evaluation of productivity and feasibility. Working from home agreements may be incidental or ongoing.

Working from home arrangements may be terminated with written notice provided by either the Company or the employee as follows:

- **a.** Two (2) weeks' notice for agreements that have been in place for three (3) months' or less;
- **b.** Three (3) weeks' notice for agreements that have been in place for greater than three (3) months, but less than six (6) months;
- **c.** Four (4) weeks' notice for agreements that have been in place for six (6) months or more;
- **d.** The above timelines in b. or c. may be reduced in circumstances of productivity or performance issues.

Leaders and employees will be provided with training for effective working from home arrangements.

Revised and Re-signed: June 9, 2010 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Revised and Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #7 TRANSITIONS

If the Company wishes to involuntarily transfer a permanent employee to a position in a different town or city which requires the employee to move their principle residence and if the employee declines the transfer in writing and does not accept another position with the Company:

The Company will, on a gratuitous basis, pay the employee the equivalent of two (2) months base salary on or after the employee's last day of employment with the Company.

In the above circumstances, the employee's refusal to accept the transfer will be deemed a resignation from employment with the Company and the employee will forfeit any other rights and entitlements under this Collective Agreement.

Re-signed: June 9, 2010 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #8 Oil Processing

This letter of Understanding provides for hours/schedules outside of Article 8 and is specific only to Oil Processing work.

## 1) Hours of Work/Pay & Overtime Rates:

- a. Employees will be paid at their regular pay rate during regular hours of work (between the hours of 7:00 am and 5:30 pm).
- b. Employees will receive regular pay rate plus a premium of \$5.15 for all hours worked outside the regular hours of work, except Overtime of 2X their regular pay rate will apply for all hours worked after 10 hours in a 24-hour period and the \$5.15 premium will not apply.
- c. Notwithstanding Clause 17.9, on non-regular work days, overtime pay shall apply and employees shall also receive the Oil Processing Premium for all hours worked between 7:00 pm and 7:00 am.

# 2) <u>Scheduling:</u>

- a. Notice:
  - i. There will be a minimum of 2 weeks' notice for commencement of work. Where possible the Company will endeavor to provide greater notice for commencement of work. The 4 weeks' notice requirement in Article 8.5 will not apply.

ii. Shift end will be determined when job is completed and employees will return to regular shift pattern (with shift transition) i.e., return to regular shift pattern with regular pay. The four week notice requirement in Article 8.5 will not apply.

# 3) Transition:

An employee is entitled to nine (9) consecutive hours off immediately prior to the commencement of resuming normal duty. An employee shall be paid at the employee's regular rate of pay for any scheduled hours of work which are not worked due to the prescribed nine (9) hour rest period. When an employee is required to work and it is an encroachment on this rest period it shall result in the employee being paid overtime of 2x the regular pay until completion of assigned hours. Employees are not required to come in for a shift of less than three (3) hours. If the remaining shift is less than three (3) hours, the employee will be paid for their entire shift and will not be required to come to work.

# 4) Employee availability:

The Company will send to all qualified and available employees a request for expression of interest in order to schedule those employees from the closest geographical work area for the work assignment, however:

- i. If more qualified and available employees from the closest geographical work area are interested than the work assignment requires, then the Company will attempt to rotate the work assignment opportunities among the qualified and available employees from the closest geographical work area.
- ii. If no qualified and available employees from the closet geographical work area are interested in the work assignment then the Company will offer the work to qualified and available employees in other geographical locations.

Dated: June 9, 2010 Revised and Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

# LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #9 Short Term Incentive Pay (STIP)

STIP is a non-guaranteed lump sum payment that will be paid based on results achieved in corporate goals determined by AltaLink Management Ltd. This payout will be extended to UUWA bargaining unit employees effective January 2010 (first payout in February 2011) with the following conditions:

- a. STIP is non-guaranteed. The minimum payout is 0, the target level payout is 7.5% and the maximum payout is 10%, of base pay as per the STIP policy.
- b. STIP are pensionable eligible earnings, but are not included or added to the pay rates for any year.
- *c.* STIP, at 7.5% target, is part of the total compensation market comparison which is the prime salary rate comparison to market.
- *d.* STIP will be provided for the term of the Collective Agreement.
- e. STIP Corporate goals and goal minimum, target and maximum levels are the same for non-union and UUWA employees, with the exception that UUWA employees will not have an individual goal. The weighting for the individual goal will be distributed amongst the corporate goals at management's discretion.
- f. STIP is intended to be an16ongoing part of the UUWA total compensation beyond this Collective Agreement, but the parties acknowledge that its continued existence is not guaranteed. (I.e., if it is not included in AltaLink's approved revenue requirement).
- g. It is the accountability and sole discretion of AltaLink Management and the Board of Directors to determine STIP design, corporate goals, weightings, set measures and final results, but it may not be contrary to any terms in items a e above.
- h. STIP is subject to the conditions in the Short-Term Incentive Pay policy and is subject to change. The STIP policy may be modified at management's discretion but it may not be contrary to any terms in items a e above.

Dated: June 9, 2010 Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Revised and Re-Signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

## Letter of Understanding # 10 Network Operators 24 x 7 Shift Operators

The following provisions apply when the Operators are working shift work. If employees are reassigned, temporarily or permanently to a regular weekday day shift, these provisions will not apply.

## 1. <u>Statutory Holidays</u>

Pay for holidays for Twelve-Hour Continuous Rotating Schedule Employees will be as follows:

- a. Employees who work a twelve (12) hour shift on a holiday will receive twelve (12) hours pay at the double time rate in addition to regular pay.
- b. Employees on a scheduled day off shall receive an additional twelve (12) hours pay at single time rate.
- c. Employees scheduled to work a Balancing week shift will receive the holiday off, or the lieu day off if the holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday. When one of these general holidays is observed on an employee's scheduled day off and such day is not worked by the employee, and if another mutually agreed to day off in lieu is not able to be designated within 30 days of the stat holiday, then the employee will receive pay for the stat. Since the employee is already receiving their normal monthly salary, they would receive an additional straight time days' pay.

Holidays commence at the starting time of the previous day's night shift.

In the event a holiday falls on a Saturday or Sunday and the company has declared another day off in lieu for employees on regular shift, Employees shall be paid at the double time rate for the actual holiday rather than the day declared in lieu thereof.

# 2. Additional Vacation

In addition to Vacation entitlement as per article 14, Employees while working a 24hour continuous rotating shift schedule shall receive eight (8) hours additional vacation within the first year, 16 hours after the completion of 1 year of continuous shift service, 24 hours after the completion of 2 years continuous shift service, 32 hours after the completion of 3 years continuous shift service, and 40 hours after the completion of 4 years continuous shift service. Vacation pay earned under this clause will be paid out on termination.

# 3. Shift Overlap

In recognition of time spent on shift overlap, Operators will be credited with an additional 16 hours per year in their Hour Bank.

# 4. Shift Change

Shift change notice penalties do not apply when an employee returns to his original shift or when an employee initiates a shift change due to a promotion, transfer, or Job Posting.

A shift is defined as the hours of work in a day (e.g., day or night shift).

A schedule is defined as the days of work in a specified period (e.g., Monday to Friday and days of rest; Tuesday to Saturday and days of rest).

Management has the right to determine the appropriate continuous shift rotation including twelve (12) or eight (8) hour shifts. The appropriate thirty-five (35) day schedule notice shall be maintained.

Management has the right to adjust schedules within a shift rotation in order to ensure the optimum complement on each shift. The appropriate thirty-five (35) day schedule notice shall be maintained.

# 5. <u>Twelve (12) Hour Shift – Five (5) Week Rotation</u>

a. A normal shift shall be twelve (12) hours and an average of forty (40) hours shall constitute a week's work. The starting time of the day shift shall be arranged between 06:00 and 08:00, night shift from 18:00 and 20:00. The Monday night shift will be considered the start of the schedule/shift rotation.

Employees working the five (5) week rotation will work one (1) week of a Balancing week shift. The intent of this period is to balance the employee's additional hours worked through schedule/shift rotation to zero (0) or as stated in c. below.

- The Company agrees to give the Association and employees at the AltaLink Control Center notice of intent to change the schedule. If ten (10) calendar days' notice is not given, the first two (2) shifts of the new schedule shall be paid additional straight time pay to a maximum of eight (8) hours per shift. If thirty-five (35) calendar days' notice is not given, and the new schedule affects previously scheduled days off, the first five (5) such previously scheduled days off that are worked, in the thirty-five (35) calendar day period following the posting of the new schedule, shall be paid at regular time plus eight (8) hours additional straight time pay to a maximum of forty (40) hours.
- 2. Employee's hours will balance within minus four (4) to plus eight (8) hours by the end of the five (5) week rotation.

## Additional Hours

The intent of this clause is to recognize that there may be occasions where additional hours may be added to the schedule with a minimum of thirty-five (35) days' notice. The intention is that early communication occurs between the Manager and the employee to mutually seek a solution to balance the interests of the employee and the Company. Additional hours shall be scheduled for eight (8), ten (10), or twelve (12)

hours unless mutually agreed otherwise between the employee and the Manager. In the event that these additional hours exceed eight (8) hours beyond the normal hours worked in a Five (5) Week Rotation, these excess hours shall not attract overtime, subject to 1) and 2) below:

- 1) firstly, an alternate equivalent amount of time shall be scheduled by mutual agreement with the thirty-five (35) calendar days preceding the additional hours to be worked, and the end of the Five (5) Week Rotation;
- 2) or secondly, by mutual agreement, an alternate equivalent amount of time will be added to the employees Hour Bank;

If additional hours, by mutual agreement, are not scheduled as time off or added to the employees Hour Bank, then the additional hours shall be treated as overtime and paid accordingly.

Hours Bank Time:

- a. The time, or portion thereof, in the HOUR BANK shall be scheduled as time off when mutually agreed. The intent of this arrangement is that hours banked in one calendar year shall be zeroed out by April 30 of the following calendar year.
- b. If management determines that taking the Hours Bank time off may not be accommodated by April 30 of the following year, then the additional hours (or portion thereof) shall be treated as overtime and paid accordingly.
- c. It is company policy that employees are required to use banked time before using vacation time.

## 12 hour shift pay for Daylight Savings Time change

Employees working the 11-hour shift during the spring time change will receive their normal 12 hours shift pay. Employees working the 13-hour shift during the fall time change will receive their normal 12-hour shift pay plus 1 hour overtime. This 1-hour overtime is eligible for shift differential.

6. Shift Differential

Employees scheduled to work twelve (12) hour continuous shifts will be paid the following shift differential for all hours worked between 3:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.

- effective January 1, 2013, two dollars and forty and forty cents (\$2.40) per hour
- 7. Hours of Work, Overtime Pay & Overtime Meals

The standard work week is based on a 40-hour work week. However, the hours worked in a given week will vary below or above 40 hours, they will average 40 hours over the 5-week rotation.

## a. <u>Overtime</u>

Overtime is paid based on time worked above 12 hours in a day or above 40 hours per week over the 5-week period. For example, an employee may work 4-12 hours days or 48 hours in one week, but less than 40 hours in other weeks to average 40 hours over the continuous shift rotation. In this example they would be paid regular pay, not overtime pay, because it was not above 40 hours per week over the 5-week rotation.

#### b. Overtime Meals

For twelve (12) hour shift employees the Company shall ensure that the employee receives a meal and beverage in the first half of the fifteenth (15th) hour, and four (4) hours thereafter provided overtime is to continue. Time spent eating such meals shall be considered as time worked.

#### 8. Screens for System Control Centre and Shift Work

As part of the hiring process to determine if an individual is qualified, the company may require the candidate, (internal or external candidate), to complete a questionnaire designed to assess the person's suitability and qualification to be successful in a shift work position.

An employee and/or candidate must provide the necessary information and approve to have a background/criminal check completed at time of hire and any other time as requested by AltaLink. It will be at AltaLink's discretion to hire the candidate/employee and/or continue their employment in the System Control Center if the candidate/employee is considered unsuitable based on the background/criminal check information.

All other terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement will apply except where terms and or conditions have been specifically altered, amended or added for this Letter of Understanding.

Re-signed: June 2, 2013 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

## LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #13 Retention Bonus for Term Employees

Effective January 1, 2013, Term employees will be eligible for a 5% Retention Bonus as described below. This is intended to recognize the contribution of Term employees who complete their full term.

- a. Term employees will be paid out 5% of their earned base pay over the duration of their Term contract.
- b. If the Company extends the length of the term, as per Article 2.3, then the employee will be paid out based on 5% of their earned base pay over the duration of their original term and then become eligible for a new Term bonus based on 5% of their earned base pay for the duration of their new term.
- c. If the Company reduces the length of the term, as per Article 2.3, then the employee will be paid out based on 5% of their earned base pay over the duration of their new term.
- d. If a Term employee becomes a permanent employee, they will be paid the Retention Bonus for the period worked in the term position and be eligible for STIP from the date of the permanent position.
- e. Eligible earnings include Base Pay earnings from January 1, 2013.
- f. Retention bonus for Term employees is intended to be part of UUWA total compensation beyond this Collective Agreement, but the parties acknowledge that its continued existence is not guaranteed.
- g. Term employees who are no longer employed at the Company at the time this Agreement is ratified are not eligible.
- h. Term Retention Bonus is pensionable earnings, but is not included or added to the pay rates for any year.

Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

#### Without Prejudice Letter of Understanding #14 Out of Schedule Positions

AltaLink and the UUWA have agreed to create a new and higher pay range, 6(c) level, limited to the positions noted below. This new level will apply to all employees filling these positions. Advancement to the 6(c) level cannot be achieved based on job evaluation.

These new pay rates are based on a market analysis of Total Compensation. Total Compensation is Base Pay plus incentives. If comparisons are made with companies who do not pay Overtime for those positions, Overtime at AltaLink will be given a value of 10%. If there is a change in market conditions such that this increased pay is no longer warranted, as determined by and agreed to by both parties, the position will revert back to the BU6 and TR6 level as per the collective agreement; however, all those in the current range will be red circled. If agreement cannot be reached on market change, then a third party shall make that determination.

These new pay rates are effective December 16, 2014. These rates will increase by 4% effective January 1, 2015.

IT6(c) Schedule – 2014 rates for the following positions: SAP Basis, SAP Workflow, Sr Share Point Administrator.

	Level	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Plus Range
Current	IT 6	47.53	49.10	50.66	52.21	53.42	53.42-56.85
New		52.28	54.01	55.73	57.43	58.76	58.76-62.54

BU6(c) Schedule – 2014 rates for the following position – Sr. Contracts and Sourcing Specialist and Sr. Regulatory Policy Analyst, Senior Performance Excellence Advisor

opoolaliot and or. Rogalatory								
	Level	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Plus Range
Current	BU6	38.25	39.79	41.32	42.86	44.38	45.75	45.75-51.50
New	BU6(c)	40.55	42.18	43.80	45.43	47.04	48.50	48.50-54.60

PR6(c) Schedule – 2014 rates for the following position – Project Control Analyst III

	Level	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Plus Range
Current	PR6	47.53	49.10	50.66	52.21	53.42	53.42-56.85
New	PR(c)	50.38	52.05	53.70	55.34	56.63	56.63060.26

Agreed and signed: December 2, 2014 Re-signed: September 2, 2016 Re-signed: February 1, 2021 **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #15 Joint Health and Safety Committee

The Company and Association recognize the value and importance of the Central Joint Health and Safety Committee (JHSC). Therefore, the parties agree to the following:

- a) Such committee shall be comprised of at least fifty percent (50%) employee representatives which will include union and non-union employees and may be up to fifty percent (50%) management representatives. All Association employee representatives shall be appointed by the Association. The Association shall have three (3) representatives on the JHSC. One (1) of the Association representatives may be the Business Manager, Assistant Business Manager, or Business Representative.
- b) There shall be two (2) Co-Chairs. An Employee representative shall hold one of the Co-Chair positions.
- c) The Committee shall meet at least twice per year. Minutes from all JHSC meetings shall be posted on the Company's internal website, with copies provided to all JHSC members.
- d) Employee training required by the company shall be provided for and paid by the company.
- e) All members of the JHSC must perform or participate in at least two (2) work site hazard assessments per year.

Agreed and signed on February 1, 2021. **Renewed: February 10, 2023** 

All of which was agreed to by the parties on February 10, 2023.

ON BEHALF OF ALTALINK MANAGEMENT LTD.:

The Management Negotiating Committee

# Wendy Bulbuck Ryan Lilburn Tyrone Tait Shawn Reimer

ON BEHALF OF THE UNITED UTILITY WORKERS' ASSOCIATION OF CANADA:

The Association Negotiating Committee

Waylon Pye Grace Thostenson Patrick Duggan David Bernier

# **United Utility Workers' Association**

1207 – 20 Avenue NW Calgary, Alberta T2M 1G2

Telephone: (403) 284-4521 FAX: (403) 282-1598

Webpage: www.uuwac.org

Waylon Pye – Business Representative Cellular: (403) 874-1422

#### Local 500 Representatives

Patrick Duggan - President David Bernier – Director

> Unit Coordinators David Bernier Scott Deering Joe Franzoi Samantha Kluthe Ryan Cavers Victor Granados Sath Mudalair Ken Grant Steph Cookhouse Stafford Strangway Jaki Spoljarevic